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Thursday, December 19, 2013

--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.


The Board sits today on the matter of an application filed by Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro on May 17th, 2013 under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, seeking approval for changes to the rates that Kitchener-Wilmot charges for electricity distribution, to be effective January 1st, 2014.  The Board assigned application file number EB-2013-0147.


The Board established procedures to facilitate a technical conference, which was held on October 28th, 2013, and a settlement conference which was held on November 7th and 8th, 2013.


Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro filed a proposed partial settlement agreement between itself and the registered intervenors on December 3rd, 2013.  The following issues remain unsettled:  The level of Kitchener-Wilmot's operations, maintenance, and administration expenses for 2014 and the working capital allowance to be factored into the 2014 rate base.


The Board established this hearing in response to a request for the parties to the proposed settlement agreement to have the Board hear the unsettled issues orally.  The Board reserved its decision on the proposed settlement to allow it to question the parties on the proposed partial settlement agreement at the commencement of this oral hearing.  The Board has declared Kitchener-Wilmot's current approved rates interim as of January 1st, 2014 pending the Board's final decision on this application.


My name is Ken Quesnelle, and I'll be presiding over this hearing today, and with me on the Panel is Emad Elsayed, and I will now take appearances.

APPEARANCES:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, Mr. Quesnelle, Mr. Elsayed.  James Sidlofsky, counsel for Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. Sidlofsky.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning.  Jay Shepherd, counsel for School Energy Coalition.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. AIKEN:  Good morning.  Randy Aiken, consultant for the Energy Probe Research Foundation.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. Aiken.


MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Michael Janigan on behalf of the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. Janigan.


MS. HELT:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Maureen Helt, counsel with the Board, and with me I have Keith Ritchie, who is Board Staff and case manager for this application.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Good morning.


Before we get to the settlement proposal, any preliminary matters to discuss, Mr. Sidlofsky?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No, thank you, sir.

PRESENTATION OF THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  There is one area that the Panel would like to provide -- or have the applicant and parties perhaps provide some clarity in the settlement agreement, and it is with respect to the agreed-to handling of the threshold level for the ICM.  I'll point you specifically to issue 2.3, and that's on page 16 of 46 of the proposed settlement.  And I'm just wondering if perhaps, Mr. Sidlofsky, or you or your client could provide some clarity as to the mechanics of what has been agreed to as compared to what would have occurred had there had been no special arrangement around the ICM threshold.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  In just a moment, sir, I'll turn that over to Margaret Nanninga, Kitchener-Wilmot's vice-president of finance, but just in very general terms the parties have agreed that instead of the threshold that would be calculated using the Board's policies or the Board's filing requirements with respect to an ICM application or a potential ICM application -- and in general terms that would be -- the threshold would be an amount for depreciation plus an additional percentage on top of that -- the parties have agreed that Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro will not be precluded from making an ICM application in the future, but that its threshold will be treated as the amount in its capital plan over the -- the annual amount in its capital plan over the next four years.


So instead of running the calculation based on the Board's requirements, the threshold will be treated as the amount in the plan.  Beyond that, Kitchener-Wilmot would be permitted to just make the application.  That doesn't mean the application, clearly, would necessarily be approved by the Board, but that opportunity would be available to Kitchener-Wilmot.


I'm not sure if the intervenor representatives have any comments on that, but that's sort of a general description of that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Any of the intervenors, parties here this morning?  Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I can comment, Mr. Chairman.  When the intervenors agreed to a capital plan, you have a different way of thinking about it if it's setting a precedent for a series of future ICM applications.  And so a utility that says, Look, this is our budget, and we're okay in ICM as long as we're within this capital plan, you can have more confidence that you're not going to be looking at more rate increases in the future.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Within IRM, I think.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, yes, within IRM, yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, yes, yes, okay.  Thank you.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, if you have any questions about the mechanics of the threshold versus the amount in the plan, Ms. Nanninga can speak to that.  This may have answered your question generally, and...


MR. QUESNELLE:  It does generally.  Perhaps Ms. Nanninga -- and what's not clear, without going to references and what-have-you, is directionally what does that do for the threshold over the term of the IRM.


MS. NANNINGA:  The threshold would be reduced.  We haven't been able -- we hadn't gotten a chance to quantify it yet.  We weren't aware that there might be questions coming up on it until last night.  But it would be reduced from what the ICM model would give us.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm perplexed by that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So am I.


MR. QUESNELLE:  My -- and what I wanted clear on the record was perhaps the delta, but we didn't have to go that far.  I was just going to ask for the direction of what the new threshold would be as compared to, in the absence of this settled item, what it would be, and looking at the exhibit that has the planned -- the spend in it, and without doing the calculation, we thought that directionally perhaps it was the other way.  Now, perhaps -


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, sorry, I think I did say it the wrong way.  The threshold would go up, sorry, I believe it's about 21 million.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  All right.


MR. ELSAYED:  Twenty-one million for which year?


MS. NANNINGA:  I'm sorry?


MR. ELSAYED:  For which year?


MS. NANNINGA:  That would be 2014.  I believe it will go down to 19 in '15, based on our capital asset strategy.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I think what the Board would be comforted by is if we had something, Mr. Sidlofsky, that presented the delta.  We want it clear on the record as to what the impact of this settlement is.  The numbers would be known now, because the exhibit that is being referenced is a spend plan.  So it would be, in any year of the IRM tenure we would like to see what the comparison would be between the Board policy implementation versus what has been agreed to by the parties.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, I think that Kitchener-Wilmot would be prepared to provide that.  Maybe if we can treat that as an undertaking.  I know that they haven't -- they don't have final calculations in that regard at this point.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.


Any comments from any of the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, while the new threshold would be known, the model threshold would not be known for each year.  So I think -- are you asking that they assume that this is the same as this year?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd, yeah.  Under that assumption, yes.


And it's just to give the Board a sense of -- and because it's not clear on the page, and this is -- we can have this discussion here, but unless it's on the record it makes it very difficult in future years to go back and interpret what were in the minds of the individuals at the time.  So this way we just see a need for clarity.  It's not -- I don't want to suggest that it's any more than that.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And that's fine, sir.  And anything that Kitchener-Wilmot provides for you will be qualified in that way, that the calculations would be changing each year.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Right.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And they wouldn't have access to that at this point.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  So on the assumption that it's remaining that -- based on the 2014 actuals that we know.


MS. NANNINGA:  Excuse me, Mr. Chair, would we -- would you like us to submit the model or just simply the results?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just the results.  I think what we just -- we need to understand the thinking of the parties at the time is what they agreed to directionally more than anything.  If there's any issues that come up as you're thinking about that in your response to that and you have to confer with the parties, obviously, feel free to do so.


MS. HELT:  Mr. Chair, would you like that marked, then, as an undertaking?


MR. QUESNELLE:  We might as well, Ms. Helt -- thank you very much -– just to keep it clear as to what the Board's expectations are.


MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.1, and that is to provide a document to supplement the proposed partial settlement agreement, to provide clarity with respect to the issues set out on page 16 of 46 of the proposed partial settlement agreement concerning the ICM agreement.  And the document is to set out what the delta will be between the partial settlement calculation of the ICM threshold versus the ICM as calculated in accordance with the Board's filing guidelines.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  to PROVIDE A DOCUMENT TO PROVIDE CLARITY WITH RESPECT TO THE ISSUES SET OUT ON PAGE 16 OF 46 OF THE PROPOSED PARTIAL SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT CONCERNING THE ICM AGREEMENT; to set out what the delta will be between the partial settlement calculation of the ICM threshold versus the ICM as calculated in accordance with the Board's filing guidelines, With the assumption the 2014 known quantums will be the base.

MR. QUESNELLE:  With the assumption the 2014 known quantums will be the base.


If there are no other matters, thank you very much for that.  And we will deal with the settlement.  We'll carry on as though that is a housekeeping issue, that the assumption that we won't be circling back on any other items that have been settled.


So with that, Mr. Sidlofsky, would you like to introduce your witness panel?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.  If I could just ask as a procedural matter, will the Board be holding off on its approval of the settlement agreement until that material is finalized?


MR. QUESNELLE:  What's your estimate of timing on that?  I know we had hoped to be finished today, but we may go into tomorrow on that.  We would -- Let's -- yeah, let's assume that.  We would like to have that, obviously, beforehand, but I'm just trying to get a sense of the timing of when that may be available so we can think through as to when we may be able to provide our decision on the partial settlement.


MS. NANNINGA:  I would say that we should be able to get it to you tomorrow, unless we went the whole day tomorrow.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Let's operate on the assumption that the information coming in as been described will be satisfactory to the Board, and let's carry on through this process on the unsettled issues as though that's the case.  Obviously we would like to see it before we make final decision on the partial.  Okay?  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.  I just have a short number of opening comments, and what I would like to take the witness panel, who I'll be introducing to you, through examination-in-chief.  I expect I will be about 15 to 20 minutes with that.  And then the panel will be available for cross-examination.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  If that's acceptable to the Board.

Presentation by Mr. Sidlofsky:


Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro owns and operates the electricity distribution system in the City of Kitchener and the Township of Wilmot.  KWHI serves just over 89,000 customers.


In August of last year, KW Hydro updated its cost-of-service application for 2014 electricity distribution rates effective January 1st of this year, to accommodate Board-mandated changes to Account 1576.


In its application, KWHI had sought approval to charge rates effective January 1st, as I said, to recover service revenue requirement of $39,453,868.  After revenue offsets of approximately $2,039,000, the base revenue requirement was approximately $37,415,000.  As initially filed, the application indicated a revenue sufficiency of approximately $793,000.


Energy Probe, the School Energy Coalition and VECC requested and were granted intervenor status.  The settlement conference in this proceeding took place on November 7th and 8th at the Board's offices, and the parties reached a comprehensive partial settlement.


As the Board is aware, all matters with the exception of certain matters relating to OM&A and the percentage factor to be used in calculating the working capital allowance have been settled.  The settlement agreement was filed on December 3rd, 2013.

Appendix D of the settlement agreement is a revenue requirement work form incorporating all of the changes agreed to in the settlement agreement, but assuming for all purposes the OM&A requested by KWHI, subject to one small inflation-related adjustment that arose in the interrogatory process.  Specifically, the parties agreed to use the Board's updated IRM-related inflation factor of 1.6 percent for IRM rate applications, with rates effective May 1st, 2013.  This is a decrease from the 2 percent that was used in the original application, and it resulted in a reduction of approximately $42,000 in OM&A to a proposed total of $18,460,760 inclusive of property taxes.


The second assumption in the settlement agreement was the 13 percent factor for the calculation of the working capital allowance.  And I should acknowledge that, as noted in the settlement agreement, the assumptions in that document of OM&A and the percentage factor for working capital as filed are not intended by any of the parties to be indicative of the appropriateness of the OM&A and working capital allowance amounts or any of their components or impacts, but is instead -- instead represent placeholders pending the Board's determination on those issues.


With the Board's updated cost of capital parameters and assuming the OM&A and working capital percentage factor as proposed, subject only to the OM&A adjustment from the interrogatory process -- that's the $42,000 adjustment -- there's a revenue deficiency.  Customer bill impacts on that basis are a decrease of 1.8 percent for a residential customer consuming 800 kilowatts of electricity per month, and an increase of 0.39 percent for a GS-under-50 kilowatt customer consuming 2,000 kilowatt-hours of electricity per month.  And that's inclusive of rate riders.


The parties have agreed that the effective date of the rates arising out of the proposed agreement and the Board's decision on OM&A should be January 1st, 2014.  KWHI will calculate a rate rider for the remainder of the test year that will enable it to recover or refund the difference between its Board-approved revenue requirement and its revenue at existing rates for any months in 2014 in which its new rates are not in effect.


There is no Board-approved issues list for the proceeding, but the parties used the issues list in the Guelph Hydro proceeding from 2011 as a guide.

As the Board noted, there are two unsettled issues identified in the settlement agreement.  Issue 2.2:

"Is the working capital allowance for the test year appropriate?"


And issue 4.1:
"Is the overall OM&A forecast for the test year appropriate?"


To assist the Board and the parties, KW Hydro is presenting a single witness panel that will deal with both matters.  The CVs of the panel were provided to the Board and intervenors.  Perhaps we could have those marked as an exhibit.  Those were provided this morning to Board Staff.


MS. HELT:  We can mark, then, as Exhibit K1.1, the curriculum vitaes of the witness panel.  This would include that of Jerry Van Ooteghem, Margaret Nanninga, Lloyd Frank, Wilfred Meston, Rhonda Yaraskavitch and Liz Muir.  That will be Exhibit K1.1, the package of six CVs.

EXHIBIT K1.1:  WITNESS PANEL CVS.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.


Those witnesses have been directly involved in the preparation of the application, and my understanding is that for all of them, this hearing is their first appearance before the Board as members of a witness panel.


And with those remarks, I'll call on the KWHI witness panel.
KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC. - PANEL 1


Jerry Van Ooteghem, Sworn

Margaret Nanninga, Sworn

Lloyd Frank, Sworn

Wilfred Meston, Sworn

Rhonda Yaraskavitch, Sworn

Liz Muir, Sworn

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Sidlofsky, I recognize we have a large witness panel, and typically our -- well, obviously the Board facilities don't accommodate that large number of witnesses at one time.  We will ask the intervenors, in cross-examination, if you have any concerns about making eye contact with your witnesses, we will try to do what we can to accommodate that.  I think it's an important element of it.


If there is someone who is, when we get into a subject matter, that is obviously going to be the point person, for the lack of a better word, if they could rearrange their seating so that it does accommodate, I think, a visual eye contact with the -- with the intervenors through cross-examination, with Board Staff as well.  Do you think that could be accommodated, Mr. Sidlofsky?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Oh, absolutely, sir, and what I've tried to do at this point is ensure Mr. Van Ooteghem and Ms. Nanninga, who will be likely the point people for many of the questions, are quite prominently seated in the --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Appreciate that.  Thank you.  Anything else, Mr. Sidlofsky?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No.  If I could proceed, that would be excellent, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Excellent.  Thank you.

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Sidlofsky:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, your -- witnesses, your CVs have already been entered.  Could I perhaps just ask you to state your names for the record, beginning with you, Mr. Van Ooteghem?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Jerry Van Ooteghem.


MS. NANNINGA:  Margaret Nanninga.


MS. MUIR:  Liz Muir.


MR. FRANK:  Lloyd Frank.


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  Rhonda Yaraskavitch.


MR. MESTON:  Wilfred Meston.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  And, sir, the CVs have already been filed as Exhibit K1.1.  I'd just like to touch on a couple highlights of them with the witnesses, if I might.


Mr. Van Ooteghem, you're the president and CEO of KWHI, and you have been since 2007.  I understand you've been with the utility for over 32 years; is that correct?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And prior to your current position you were VP operations.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You're an engineer, a licensed professional engineer?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  I am.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And a member of the Electricity Distributers Association CDM Caucus?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I understand you also chair a working group for the design of province-wide industrial CDM programs; is that right?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes, I do.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And your responsibility for this application is what?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  As a whole.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Nanninga, you're vice-president of finance at KWHI?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you've been with the utility since 1996?


MS. NANNINGA:  Correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You've moved up in the organization from a senior accounting clerk to your current president of -- excuse me, to your current position.  I just promoted you there, to the position of vice-president, finance, but don't tell Mr. Van Ooteghem.


I understand that you're responsible for the strategic financial planning of the organization; is that right?


MS. NANNINGA:  That's correct, yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you manage and direct the finance and accounting in the purchasing and regulatory departments?


MS. NANNINGA:  That's correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You hold a CGA designation, and you have a Bachelor's degree in accounting science?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, I do.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And your responsibility in this application?


MS. NANNINGA:  As a whole.  I also have a Master's from Laurentian, an MBA.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I did have that jotted down.  Thank you.


I'll move to you, Mr. Frank.  Vice-president, engineering and distribution?


MR. FRANK:  Correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you've been with KWHI since 1989.


MR. FRANK:  Correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You're a licensed professional engineer?


MR. FRANK:  That's correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you hold a Bachelor's degree and a Master's degree in -- Bachelor's in applied science and a Master's of applied science and management sciences, correct?


MR. FRANK:  That is correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And what are you responsible for in this application?


MR. FRANK:  I'm here to discuss -- or answer questions with respect to maintenance.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Excuse me, Mr. Frank, I don't know if your mic is on, and if there...


MR. FRANK:  I'm sorry.


MR. QUESNELLE:  That's fine.


MR. FRANK:  I'm here to answer any questions concerning the details of maintenance.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  Mr. Meston, you're the vice-president of operations for KWHI?


MR. MESTON:  That's correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you've also been with the utility since 1989, correct?


MR. MESTON:  That's right, yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you're a licensed professional engineer?  You hold a Bachelor of applied science?


MR. MESTON:  Of engineering science, yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And could you tell me -- could you tell the Board what you're responsible for in this application?


MR. MESTON:  I'm responsible for the operating part of the OM&A budget.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  And Ms. Yaraskavitch, you're the director of customer service for the utility?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  Yes, I am.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I understand you also joined in 1989.


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And that you're responsible for billing, collections, data acquisition, and the conservation portfolio in the utility?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  Yes, I am.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you attended the University of Western Ontario?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And could you tell me what you're responsible for in this application?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  The customer-service focus in the administration.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And finally, last, but not least, Ms. Muir, you're the manager of regulatory affairs for KWHI?


MS. MUIR:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you joined in March 2011?


MS. MUIR:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Joined the utility in March 2011?  And my understanding is that you're responsible for regulatory -- for, excuse me, regulatory matters affecting the corporation, various special projects, and the development of KWHI's reporting system?


MS. MUIR:  Correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You also hold a CGA designation?


MS. MUIR:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And a Bachelor's of business admin?


MS. MUIR:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And your -- could you tell me what your area of responsibility is?


MS. MUIR:  I'm responsible for the presentation of the OM&A budgets in the application.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  Now, members of the panel, was the evidence -- was the utility's evidence prepared by you or under your supervision?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes, it was.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And Mr. Van Ooteghem, are you speaking for all the members?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  I am.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And do you adopt the evidence as your own in this proceeding?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes, we do.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And as you know, you also went through an interrogatory process and a technical conference, and could you tell the Board if you adopt KWHI's responses to Board Staff and intervenor interrogatories and technical-conference questions and your undertaking responses in this proceeding?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  The responses were prepared by KWHI staff, and we adopt the responses as our own, but we wish to be clear that not all of the responses reflect KWHI's request in this application.  We may have been asked to perform calculations based on alternative scenarios, and we have performed those calculations and responded to the interrogatories, but we do not agree that the alternate scenarios are appropriate or that they should be adopted by the Board.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Mr. Van Ooteghem.


And Ms. Nanninga, do you have any corrections to the evidence related to OM&A?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, we have three in particular that I would like to bring up.  We had -- in our original application had a non-labour inflation rate of 2 percent, which was used by our managers in the development of the budgets.  This was adjusted through the interrogatories process to 1.6 to coincide with the Board's deemed rate for May 1st, 2013 rates.


We also had a reclassification of $40,000 from bad debt.  There was $40,000 in collections that should have been in bad debt.  So it's a wash, but it was an adjustment.


And lastly, we filed three cost-driver tables over the course of the application.  There was the application, the interrogatories, and then the undertakings.  The last one is our final one, and it was filed in response to JT1.15.


As a side comment, we found it very difficult to do an accurate cost-driver table.  With the exception of programs that are entirely third-party, we find it's difficult to isolate the cost of individual programs.  This is due to the fact that there are costs -- if you have certain categories, the costs -- certain costs can be embedded in numerous categories, such as inflation, employee benefits.  Things like that might be included in another cost driver.  So it's very, very difficult to isolate something by itself.

We also had difficulty in defining what should be on the cost driver table.  We have many programs, and our materiality level is $175,000.  So when you start to get into the weeds, some of this stuff, in order to make your cost driver table you have to start looking at much smaller numbers.  So we did find that difficult as well.


We also found in looking at the other distributors that the distributors are all interpreting how to fill out the cost driver table differently.  Some are doing them at OEB account levels.  Others are doing it at the program levels.


So we looked at appendix 2G, which we found very helpful, which actually works at the OEB account level.  We found it much easier to determine the drivers of cost rather than using the cost driver table itself.  This is how we budget; we budget at the –- we call it the department level.  We have operations and maintenance, customer service, and then we have admin.  And that's how we make our buckets.  So we found that was much more closely aligned to how we would make a cost driver table.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Ms. Nanninga.


Mr. Van Ooteghem, I would ask that you provide the Board with an overview of the material that KWHI has filed in respect of its projected OM&A.

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Thank you.  Exhibit 4 of KWHI's prefiled evidence contains an overview of its operating cost for the 2014 test year, and summaries of those costs dating back to 2010 Board-approved and 2010 actual.  I will touch on some of the key areas in KWHI's OM&A budget in a moment, but before I do I would like to make a few general comments.


Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro serves just over 90,000 customers now in the City of Kitchener and Township of Wilmot and is the 10th-largest LDC in the province.


As already mentioned, we filed our application in May of 2013 for January 1st, 2014 rates, under third-generation IRM.


Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro was the first municipal LDC to design, build, own and operate its own transformer stations.  We purchased our first station from Ontario Hydro 60 years ago.  Currently we own and operate eight transformer stations, supplying all of the load in KWHI's service area.  Costs for operating these eight transformer stations are embedded in KWHI's OM&A costs.  This cost was 18.87 cents per customer in 2012.

While operating and maintaining these stations cost KWHI's customers approximately 1.9 million per year in OM&A costs, they no longer pay for transmission transformation charges from Hydro One.  And this represents a savings of 6.8 million per year.


KW Hydro Inc.'s historic customer growth rate is approximately 1.5 percent per year since 2010.


KWHI is an efficient operator; we have ranked in the top quartile of the OEB's cost-performance benchmarking study for efficiency each year since the report was first prepared by the Pacific Economics Group.  Over the last four years, KWHI has ranked, for the 2011 stretch factor, 12th overall and first in its peer group; for 2012, 11th overall and first in its peer group; for 2013, 16th overall and first in its peer group; and for 2014, 8th overall.


KWHI had the third-lowest OM&A costs in the province at $189.02 dollars per customer, which includes the smart meter decision and the change in accounting policies according to the 2012 OEB Yearbook.  As already mentioned, this cost includes $18.87 per customer for operating and maintaining the eight transformer stations which it owns.  The net amount if we exclude the transformer station costs, is $170.15, which is the second-lowest in the province and 45 percent lower than the provincial average, excluding Hydro One, of $309 per customer.


KW Hydro Inc. has achieved lower OM&A costs per customer than most LDCs in the province.  This demonstrates that we are achieving efficiencies wherever possible.  As an efficient operator, it becomes increasingly difficult to achieve further efficiencies as uncontrollable costs are increasing more rapidly than allowed using the envelope approach.  KWHI has very little room to move, as a higher percentage of OM&A costs are fixed costs for an already efficient operator.  Further cost reductions will affect customer service and reliability.


KWHI's residential rates are the lowest in the region and amongst the lowest in the province.  In November 2013, KWHI's distribution charges represented only 19 percent of the total bill of $22.74, out of a total bill of 118.62.  Currently, KWHI has the 14th-lowest residential rates in the province.


KW Hydro Inc.'s original application identified a large revenue sufficiency of $2,278,621.  After Board-mandated adjustments were made to Account 1576, and other changes during the interrogatory process and technical conference, KWHI's revenue sufficiency decreased to $891,517, or an overall decrease of 2.2 percent.


Following the release of the Board's updated cost of capital parameters, KWHI's current application before the Board is predicting a small revenue deficiency of only $130,436, or an overall increase of 0.3 percent.  This results in a rate decrease of $2.04 per residential customer per month, or a 1.8 percent decrease.  The GS less-than-50 2,000 kilowatt-hour customer will have an increase of $1.11 per month, or 0.4 percent.


These bill impacts include all rate riders.  This is based on the revenue requirement resulting from the settlement agreement and the OM&A and working capital allowance values requested by KWHI.


KWHI's 2012 customer satisfaction survey identified that 92 percent of KWHI's customers were satisfied or very satisfied with the utility.  The two primary areas of concern were rising electricity bills, as I mentioned, which represent 19 percent of the total bill, and reliability.


KWHI's last test year was 2010.  In the last four years, KWHI has not experienced a typical year.  There has been significant volatility in its OM&A due to the following reasons.

Construction of our number 9 transformer station that diverted resources from OM&A to capital in 2009 and 2010.  The same resources are used at Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro for construction and for maintenance and operations.


2011 includes the additional costs of the deferred maintenance, due to building a transformer station, from the previous years.


The smart meter initiative reduced operating metering costs for three years as labour was diverted to installing smart meters.  Further, in 2012, three years of smart meter OM&A was transferred to the OM&A accounts.


2012 also includes the effects of the accounting policy changes that added 1.7 million in additional OM&A costs.

In 2013 KWHI was expected to return to a more typical year, but planned maintenance work was deferred due to several extreme weather events in our area.


In 2014 KWHI expects to return to a normal level of OM&A activity, with the inclusion of a couple of new initiatives:  monthly billing, removal of the ash trees, and some new IT initiatives.


As I mentioned, I would like to touch on a few specific areas of our 2014 test year OM&A budget.


Our current request, representing the amount of OM&A requested in the application and any revisions made through the course of this proceeding, is $18,460,716.  Changes in accounting standards from Canadian GAAP to modified GAAP in 2012 has added approximately $1.7 million to those OM&A costs, as those costs are now incorporated in our revenue requirement.


Smart meters.  In 2012 the disposition of smart-meter costs added approximately $1.1 million to OM&A costs.  For 2013 and beyond, the amounts for smart meters that are now being incorporated into our revenue requirement is $352,000.


Additionally, labour that was previously deferred and not included in KWHI's 2010 revenue requirement as part of the smart-meter initiative has returned to OM&A costs.  This additional operating labour reflects an increase of 165,000.


Maintenance.  KWHI has been doing asset management for more than 30 years.  KWHI's asset management plan is sustainable and smooths out expenditures over the long-term.  We continually strive to understand the root causes and to develop cost-effective solutions to reduce the frequency and duration of outages.


We have implemented a number of new maintenance programs to address reliability and public safety.  A couple of those are animal-proofing of overhead transformers and switches, which is a program that costs about $150,000 a year.  And as I mentioned before, the removal of the dead ash trees due to the emerald ash borer, which we expect to be a significant effort over the next number of years, to the tune of about $100,000 a year additional costs.


In addition, repairs are really not discretionary.  If something breaks or is damaged, it must be repaired or replaced.  We do, however, have a number of preventative maintenance programs to ensure that expensive pieces of equipment will continue to function as intended.


In customer service we are continually working towards improving our communications with our customers.  The following initiatives are planned to address that concern.


We are looking at implementing monthly billing.  Monthly billing will help our customers manage their electricity bills and provide additional opportunities for us to communicate with our customers.  This initiative will cost $400,000.  And I might add that was prior to the recent announcement of the postal rate change.


Hiring a communication specialist to aid in the delivery of the corporate communication strategy for KWHI and to establish our presence on social media.  This position is one of only three that will have been added since 2002, and this requirement was most evident during some of the extreme weather events we experienced last year.


Development of a communication strategy and a plan, development of a strategic communications plan.  With respect to the hiring of the communications specialist, we recognize under third-gen that formal customer engagement in communications is not required, but our customers have told us that we need to keep them better informed, and so we are planning to move forward with this initiative.


Information technology.  KW Hydro Inc. has invested in a number of new IT initiatives over the last several years to improve efficiencies and better serve the needs of our customers and the utility.


Some projects that KWHI has undertaken are not discretionary, but rather a reflection of a well-managed company.  An example of that is that we have entered into a new service agreement, late 2012, to provide disaster recovery capabilities.  Prior to this time we had data backup, but we had no recovery capability in the event of a catastrophe like the tornado that happened in Goderich.


A number of IT applications have been installed or expanded, such as a new health and safety management system, to help us better manage our compliance with -- and our training programs.


Expansion of our archiving of corporate data, online archiving.  Additional database analysis, improving our website, and data acquisition for commercial meters.


We've also expanded our IT network, our corporate network, the number of computers that are available, and licencing to support those additional users, primarily for field staff.


We have upgraded existing data servers, storage area network, and expanded our Internet bandwidth and security provisions to support increased traffic volume for smart meters.  AMI, MDMR, and ODS system interfaces.  We have implemented network security audits to make sure that our -- we are protected and our firewalls are robust.


One additional staff person is planned for IT to manage new projects planned for 2014 to 2018.  This includes the implementation of a new outage management system and the ongoing maintenance of that system, and this will help immensely during an outage situation like we've had most recently at Christmas, as all of you did as well.


It is critical to know where the power is out, where the outages are, what progress is being made to make repairs, inform our customers of where the outages are and when we expect to have power restored.


We are also planning -- or we are also looking at planning to upgrade our existing legacy customer information system.  Our current system is an in-house system.  It was developed using COBOL.  It's a COBOL programming language.  It's increasingly becoming difficult to find programmers, and that system is at least 35 years old, and we need to look at upgrading it.


There are a number of uncontrollable increases as well.  The OEB deemed inflation rate over the past four years ranges from 1.3 to 2 percent.  Although this is adequate for some expenses, others are increasing far beyond the OEB deemed rate of inflation.


KWHI needs to manage its cost to these pressures.  As an efficient operator it becomes increasingly difficult.  An example of the cost pressures that KWHI has faced over the last two years include the rising cost of insurance.


As a result of rate changes and increased total insured value of our property and primarily our transformer stations and liability insurance increases, our insurance costs have increased by $192,000 over the last two years.  This increase is -- or over four years, sorry.  It's a 50 percent increase.


Our employee benefits as a result of union negotiations, employee demographics, and increasing rates.  Employee benefits, including health and dental insurance and OMERS, has an average increase of 7 percent over the last four years.  The OMERS increase alone has been 76 percent.


Negotiated wage increases.  As a result of union negotiations the current union contract for 2014 has an increase of 2.85 percent.  Over the last four years the increase in dollars is $845,000.


Other cost increases not captured here in this application but that will be faced in the upcoming years, as I mentioned already, is the postal-cost increases.  The recent announcement will increase our postal costs by $208,000, assuming we do move to monthly billing.  This is in addition to the increased costs that were already going to result from more frequent bill delivery and that were included in this application.


Staff changes.  KW Hydro has planned for an increase of three staff over four years since its last rebasing application.  This is an incremental cost of 288,000.  The three positions were the communications specialist that I mentioned before, the IT projects manager, and the third position was the addition of a human-resources person that was hired to assist management with HR matters.  Previously we did not have a person to do HR.


Regulatory requirements.  KWHI's budgeted increase cost of $68,000 for this cost -- for 2014 for this cost-of-service application, this is incremental to KWHI.  This is -- this cost is only for the cost of service and does not take into account other regulatory cost pressures such as increased filing requirements, increased costs of additional prudential requirements, increased costs as a result of changing customer service roles.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Mr. Van Ooteghem.


Finally, as you know, the other unsettled issue relates to the percentage factor to be used in calculating KWHI's working capital allowance, and I'm just wondering before I turn you over for cross-examination if you have comments on that.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes, thank you.  In our last cost-of-service application, the Board's default percentage factor of 15 percent was used.  We had proposed to conduct a lead-lag study for our next application, but we were not mandated to do so by the Board.  The Board stated that it expected that KW Hydro would support its working capital allowance in its next rebasing application based on the outcomes of a Board-led process or based on a KWHI-specific lead-lag study.  KWHI has not performed a lead-lag study, and instead followed the results of the Board-led process.


In April of 2012, the Board determined that the default percentage to be used for the calculation of working capital allowance would be reduced from 15 percent to 13 percent.  In the absence of a lead-lag study for KWHI, we have used that value in this application.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Mr. Van Ooteghem.


Mr. Quesnelle, the panel is now available for cross-examination.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Sidlofsky.  Mr. Aiken, I see you going for your mic.  I take it you're up first?


MR. AIKEN:  I'm the lead-off, yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. AIKEN:  I do have a compendium that we need to have numbered, and Mr. MacIntosh has further copies for anybody who would like a copy.


MS. HELT:  Why don't we mark that as Exhibit K1.2?  And that will be the compendium of Energy Probe.  I can actually provide the panel with some hard copies from Mr. MacIntosh.

EXHIBIT K1.2:  ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


Mr. Aiken, whenever you're ready.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  I would like to start with the working capital allowance, following up on the direct evidence we just had.  So if we could start with pages 1 through 3 of the compendium, you'll see the pages are numbered at the top.  Pages 1 through 3 is the Kitchener-Wilmot reply submission dealing with the working capital allowance into your 2010 rates preceding, EB-2009-0267.  And I want to look at specifically page 3, paragraphs 28C and 31D.


So paragraph 28C reads:
"KW Hydro did not complete a lead-lag study as part of this application.  However, as a result of the interrogatory process, it was agreed to conduct a lead-lag study as part of the next cost of service rebasing application.  This is supported by Board Staff.  This initiative was also supported by VECC and Energy Probe."


And then in 31(d), it reaffirms that KW Hydro agrees to conduct a lead-lag study prior to the next rebasing application if the Board determines this to be appropriate, and then it goes on to talk about the cost and the need for a deferral account.


And then following that, the next three pages of the compendium are the relevant Board decision with respect to the working capital allowance.  So at the bottom of page 5 and page 6 of the compendium, this is what the Board stated under the heading "Lead-lag Study":

"KW Hydro has proposed to conduct a lead-leg study in the preparation of its next cost of service rebasing application.  The Board finds this proposal timely and appropriate.  The Board notes that KW Hydro will have implemented smart meters and time-of-use (TOU) rates by that time.  The standard 15 percent formula is dated and has not been reviewed for a while, and there have been many changes in utility operations and changes in technology and productivity.  The Board notes that the appropriateness of the level of working capital is also being raised in other applications, and the Board may initiate a generic proceeding/consultation on determining a new working capital methodology in advance of KW Hydro's next cost of service filing.  In such case, the Board expects that KW Hydro will participate in such a process and will take into account the outcomes of such a process.  The Board expects that KW Hydro will support its cash working capital allowance in the next rebasing application based on the outcomes of this Board-led process or based on the lead-lag study that KW Hydro stated it would individually undertake."


So with that long introduction, your evidence at Exhibit 2, tab 5, schedule 1 indicates that you did not complete a lead-lag study because of the Board's April 12, 2012 letter related to an update to chapter 2 of the Filing Requirements for Transmission and Distribution Applications' allowance for working capital.  And I've included that in the compendium for your reference at pages 7 through 9.


And specifically at the bottom of page 7 of the compendium, it states:
"The Board has reviewed the approaches to the calculation of WCA and will not require distributors to file lead-lag studies for 2013 rates unless they are required to do so as a result of a previous Board decision."


So I take it this is why Kitchener-Wilmot did not undertake a lead-lag study; is that correct?


MS. NANNINGA:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Then in the response to 2 Energy Probe 15, which is on page 13 of the compendium, I asked for the file number of the generic proceeding or consultation.


Your response was that you could not find one, but you did provide a link to the April 12th letter.  And you also indicated in that response that you did not participate in the development of the WCA.


MS. NANNINGA:  That's correct.  It was a directive by the Board.


MR. AIKEN:  So then to be clear, am I correct that you did not do a lead-lag study because you felt that the Board's update to the filing requirements related to the working capital allowance, in which you did not participate, was equivalent to a Board-initiated generic proceeding or consultation in which the Board expected Kitchener-Wilmot to participate?


MS. NANNINGA:  I'm sorry, could you rephrase that?


MR. AIKEN:  No, but I can reread it.


MS. NANNINGA:  Well, that's what I mean.  Sorry.


[Laughter]


MR. AIKEN:  Am I correct that you did not do a lead-lag study because you felt that the Board's update to the filing requirements related to the working capital allowance, in which you did not participate, was equivalent to a Board-initiated generic proceeding or consultation in which the Board expected Kitchener-Wilmot to participate?


MS. NANNINGA:  That was our interpretation, was the Board's decision said that we were to support our cash working capital allowance based on an outcome of a Board-led process or the lead-lag.


And so our interpretation was that the Board's letter was that Board-led process.  We weren't given the opportunity to participate, as it was a letter from the Board.


MR. AIKEN:  That leads me to the question, when you say it's a Board-led process:  Who did the Board lead, given that there was no consultation with utilities or intervenors?


MS. NANNINGA:  Well, it was -- like I said, it was a directive from the Board to utilities.


MR. AIKEN:  It was a change in the filing requirements; correct?


MS. NANNINGA:  That's true.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, I want to turn to the real issue in this case related to the lack of a lead-lag study.  And you've touched on this.


You're moving all your customers to monthly billing in 2014; correct?


MS. NANNINGA:  That's the plan.


MR. AIKEN:  And in the response to 2 Energy Probe 16 part (a), which is, again, on page 13 of the compendium, you indicated that the customer classes that will be moved from bi-monthly to monthly billing are the residential, general -- sorry, the residential, general service, and microFIT account.  Are all the other classes currently billed on a monthly basis?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, they are.


MR. AIKEN:  In terms of the timing of this switch, the response to part (b) of that question indicates that Kitchener-Wilmot has commenced the analysis and planning to move all bi-monthly billings to monthly, and that is -- it is anticipated implementation will not occur until 2014.


My question is this:  Did Kitchener-Wilmot move any customers from bi-monthly to monthly billing by the end of 2013?


MS. NANNINGA:  No, we did not.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, in terms of the cost to move to monthly billing, if you could turn to page 14 of the compendium.  And this is the response to 4 Energy Probe 67, which is in the middle of the page.  The response indicates that the cost forecast -- is forecast to be 201,502.13, with an additional incremental cost of 200,000 in 2014.


So stopping there, did I have that right as a result of those interrogatory responses?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And then if you jump to page 61 of the compendium, this is the initial cost-driver table filed in your evidence.  If you look a few lines from the bottom you see the monthly billing cost driver, with incremental costs of 178,000 in 2013 and 164,000 in 2014.  I take it these figures were then reviewed and corrected as a result of interrogatory response?  And as a result of that we get the cost-driver table on page 62?


MS. NANNINGA:  Ms. Muir will speak to that.


MS. MUIR:  The cost-driver table as initially filed for the monthly billing was wrong, and it was corrected eventually on JT1.15 as the undertaking table, on the undertaking cost-driver table.


MR. AIKEN:  If you look at the cost driver on page 62, which is the cost driver you filed as part of the interrogatory responses, I believe, am I correct that you broke down the monthly billing cost drivers into two components?  You've got the customer-service billing --


MS. MUIR:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  -- and the customer-service collecting.


MS. MUIR:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  And when you add those numbers up you get the 201 and the 200.


MS. MUIR:  Yes, that's true.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And then if we move to the cost driver that you referred to in table on JT1.15, that's on page 63 of the compendium, I see that the cost driver has been removed from 2013 now and the entire $401,500 increase shows up for 2014.


Does this mean that Kitchener-Wilmot spent no money in 2013 related to moving customers to monthly billing, including the analysis?


MS. MUIR:  Yes, this is true.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, you touched upon the Canada Post announcement of the increase.  Was the $208,000 that you noted just for the customers who would go from bi-monthly to monthly, or is that for all of your customers?
MS. MUIR:  The 208,000 is for all of our customers.  Just moving from monthly to -- from bi-monthly to monthly will cost 98,000 of that $208,000.


MR. AIKEN:  So then the total cost of moving those customers to monthly billing is roughly $500,000.


MS. MUIR:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  On the -- on page 11 of the compendium, if we can go back to that, there is a response there to 4 Energy Probe 38.  And it's part (c) and D that I'm looking at.


I asked about the collection and bad-debt expense related to the move to monthly billing.  The answer in part (c) which deals with the fact that Kitchener-Wilmot was forecasting an increase in collection expense, the fifth bullet down talks about monthly billing and the impact that will have on collection expenses.


And I have to say, once I read that a few times I still wasn't sure whether you were forecasting collection expenses to go up, down, or stay the same as a result of moving to monthly billing.  So my question is, what is the impact on your collection-expense forecast in 2014 as a result of moving all your customers to monthly billing?


MS. NANNINGA:  Ms. Yaraskavitch can speak on that one.


MR. AIKEN:  I'm okay with no eye contact.

[Laughter]


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  We do actually anticipate our collection activity to increase.  We still see a great number of our customers that aren't paying.  We're hoping that it will -- the activity will go down a bit for some of those customers.  However, we're going out more frequently to the customers that are still not paying and that are waiting really until the eleventh hour to pay the bill.


MR. AIKEN:  And similarly for the bad-debt expense, which is part (d) of the question, you're not forecasting a decrease in bad-debt expense, and my question is why?  If you're assisting customers with their bills so that they can pay lower amounts.


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  Part of that does relate to the fact that we have lost the ability to have security deposits for our low-income folks.  So, you know, that's a direct correlation to typical bad debts.


MR. AIKEN:  Didn't that situation also exist in 2013?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  It did exist.  However, we did not actually negotiate all of those processes with our region of social services until approximately March of 2013.  Our write-offs go to the end of June, so we only saw a few customers really be impacted in that scenario.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If you could turn to page 12 of the compendium, response to 4 Energy Probe 71.  I'll read the question and the answer.  The question was:

"Despite not completing a lead-lag study, does KWHI agree that monthly billing in place of bi-monthly billing will more closely match the inflows of revenue with the monthly billing of electricity cost from the ISO, and if not, why not?"


Now, the response indicates that:

"KWHI does agree that the move to monthly billing will more closely match inflows of revenue with the monthly billing of electricity costs from the IESO.  The amount of time from when the electricity was consumed and when payment is received from the customer should be reduced."


Then in the second paragraph of the response you state:

"As stated in the interrogatory response, KWHI is unable to estimate the total impact that monthly billing will have on its cash flow, and, in the absence of a lead-lag study, has opted to use the deemed amount of working capital allowance of 13 percent."


So stopping there, is the reason you were unable to estimate it is because of the absence of a lead-lag study?  Is that not correct?


MS. NANNINGA:  That's true.


MR. AIKEN:  And then the second sentence of that last paragraph:

"The Board deemed this amount following a review.  Therefore, any change to KWHI's WCA due to monthly billing would therefore be unfair to KWHI, as this is consistent with Board policy."


Can you explain what you mean in that last sentence with respect to Board policy?


MS. NANNINGA:  I think what we're seeing -- well, I don't think.  What we're seeing is, is that the Board, based on their review -- and in their letter they talk about how they have reviewed the results of different lead-lag studies that had been released prior to them making their decision, and based on that information they had deemed that 13 percent was the appropriate factor to be used.


So if that has been deemed to be appropriate, then our belief is, is that the Board's policy is correct, and so it should be applied to KWHI in this situation.


MR. AIKEN:  Do you believe that Board policy should allow the utility to add more than 400,000, and we now know it will be closer to $500,000, in costs to be borne by ratepayers, while ignoring a reduction to those same ratepayers in the working capital allowance that results from improved cash flow to the utility?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, if I could stop my friend there, I'm not sure it's appropriate to be asking Ms. Nanninga what Board policy is.


Ms. Nanninga has testified that the Board has indicated or the Board did indicate in April of last year that the rate would be 13 percent.  Beyond that, I'm not sure it's in Ms. Nanninga's -- or I'm not sure that Ms. Nanninga is in a position to interpret Board policy.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Aiken?


MR. AIKEN:  Let me rephrase it.  Based on customer feedback and customer focus and customer satisfaction, do you think customers would be satisfied knowing that they're spending 4- to $500,000 more in the move to monthly billing while not being credited with a rate reduction resulting from the impact on the working capital allowance?


MS. NANNINGA:  The thing is is that we haven't got -- we haven't quantified it.  If we did a lead-lag study now, it would be based on bi-monthly billing.  So therefore the results of the lead-lag study would not be correct and would not be indicative of what we would see going forward.


So then in this instance, a lead-lag study could cost anywhere from -- I don't know -- say, 20- to $50,000.  We haven't billed that to our customers.  If we did one now, it would be based on our actuals that have bi-monthly billing included in it, and we would have to do it again later, and in essence we would be billing our customers for the same study twice.


MR. AIKEN:  We're going to get to that, to whether you need to do it later again.  But before then, could you turn to pages 24 through 27 of the compendium?  This is the EB-2009-0096 decision with reasons for Hydro One Distribution rates for 2010 and '11.


I want to read parts of the decision into the record.  The first one is on page 26 of the compendium, and it's the first full paragraph at the top.  And I'm starting at the second sentence:
"VECC and Energy Probe, however, raised concerns with certain assumptions used to determine the cost of power and the impact on the revenue lag of the planned migration of 140,000 customers from bi-monthly billing to monthly billing."

Stopping there, would you take it, subject to check -- and I'm not sure if you understand what "subject to check" means in this process, given this is your first time.


MS. NANNINGA:  I do.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Would you take it, subject to check, that Hydro One Distribution has approximately 1.2 million customers, or did at that time, so the 140,000 customers represent about 11 percent of their customer base?


MS. NANNINGA:  I'll take that, subject to check.


MR. AIKEN:  And then the similar numbers for Kitchener-Wilmot is you're going to be moving about 90,000 customers, the residential and GS less-than-50?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  And you have a total of about 94,000 customers forecast for 2014?


MS. NANNINGA:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  So you're moving about 96 percent of your customers to monthly billing?


MS. NANNINGA:  Ms. Yaraskavitch, is that correct?  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then turning to page 27, we have the Board findings, and it's the last two sentences.  The Board indicated that:
"The Board will also make an adjustment to recognize the impact of the shift from bi-monthly to monthly billing.  As this will largely be completed within 2011, the Board will reduce the allowance for that year by $11 million as estimated by VECC, but no reduction to be made for 2010."


Now, based on that decision, why does Kitchener-Wilmot believe that the Board should not make an adjustment to the working capital allowance to reflect the savings to ratepayers through the improved cash flow?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Before Ms. Nanninga answers, Mr. Chair, it seems like Mr. Aiken is arguing his point here.  I'm sure I'll be seeing submissions to that effect, but I'm not sure that it's appropriate for him to be putting a decision on a completely different utility to Ms. Nanninga and saying:  Well, do you think this is -- or why do you think you shouldn't be subject to the same requirements?


If Mr. Aiken wants to argue it, that's fine.  I'm not sure Ms. Nanninga is in a position to answer that question, though.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Aiken?


MR. AIKEN:  I find it interesting that Kitchener is relying on the Board's letter with the 13 percent, which was based on other decisions.  I'm just simply adding another decision into this discussion.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So are you asking for a comparison of the facts behind it, or is there any differences between the circumstances that you would like to draw out, Mr. Aiken?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  I would like to know what the reasons are from Kitchener-Wilmot as to why there should not be an adjustment to the working capital allowance because of moving from monthly -- sorry, from bi-monthly to monthly billing, as has been the case for other utilities, and the Board has made an adjustment.


What separates Kitchener-Wilmot from Hydro One?


MS. NANNINGA:  I think that the -- Kitchener-Wilmot is a completely different utility than Hydro One, and I don't think that our data is comparable to Hydro One.


And in the absence of having that data, the Board's deemed 13 percent, which -- you know, at the risk of sounding like I'm assuming anything, when the Board restated the working capital allowance, it was based on lead-lag studies, and I'm, again, assuming that it was probably based on a mix of utilities that had monthly and some that did not have bi-monthly.


So in the absence of that lead-lag study, the -- I believe the Board's deemed 13 percent would be appropriate.


MR. AIKEN:  As I mentioned earlier, I'll get back to the lead-lag studies.  I want to move on now to the impacts of moving to monthly billing, and I've included at pages 16 to 23 of the compendium a report by Util-Assist that has been as filed in the EB-2013-0159 proceeding, which is a 2014 rates application for Oakville Hydro.


I take it that in addition to not doing a lead-lag study, Kitchener-Wilmot did not commission a report similar to this one; is that correct?


MS. NANNINGA:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  If you turn to page 19, this is section 1 of the report, and I'm going to try not to read a lot of this, to speed this process up.  But under section 1.1, do you believe that monthly billing will help to reduce the cost pressures in these high-cost centres that were identified here, the truck rolls, the write-offs collections, problems associated with the M -- sorry, the meter-to-cash cycle?


MS. NANNINGA:  Excuse my ignorance, but what's a truck roll?


MR. AIKEN:  I'm -- maybe we have some Oakville people in the room, but I'm assuming the truck roll is perhaps when you send out somebody to either post a notice on the door that their hydro is going to be cut off if they don't pay their bill, or that kind of stuff.


MS. NANNINGA:  I'm going to say that that would be Ms. Yaraskavitch's field.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  As I commented earlier, we do believe that our truck rolls will probably increase rather than decrease.  We currently only have two field collectors for our entire service area, so if we are out potentially twice as often, we see that as an increase, not a decrease.


MR. AIKEN:  I'm going to pause here and say:  If you still think your customers are not going to pay their monthly bill instead of bi-monthly bill, why are you moving to bi-monthly -- or, sorry, to monthly?  It doesn't seem to be providing any benefit to the customers, since now you're going to have twice as many bills that need to be collected.


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  We do see a reduction in some of the customers that can manage the lower monthly bill.  However, we do still also feel there are going to be a constant number of customers that do wait, regardless of the amount, to the end to pay their final bill, or to pay their bill before termination.


MR. AIKEN:  section 1.2 of the Util-Assist report, the last paragraph states,

"With regards to financial analysis, there are costs associated with a move to monthly billing which are easy to quantify, i.e. paper stock, postage, etc., and other costs and/or benefits which are harder to quantity.  However, from the perspective of the end consumer, these benefits need to be considered alongside the cost, as the most significant feedback from LDCs which have made this change is the customer satisfaction which has resulted from the change."


So my understanding from your evidence, this is one of the key drivers that you're using to justify the move to monthly billing; is that correct?  You believe the customers will be better served and happier with monthly billing?


MS. NANNINGA:  Ms. Yaraskavitch?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  That is one of the reasons.  Another reason that has been taken into consideration is the notification from the Minister of Energy's office that they have been looking at having all LDCs move to monthly billing.


MR. AIKEN:  If you move to section 2.1 of the report, this is the benefits of monthly billing, and it states here that:
"Bi-monthly billing was common practice around..."


And, sorry, I'm going to preface this by asking you if you have any comments and whether you agree or disagree with particular points as I go through section 2.1.  So feel free to interrupt me at any point.
"Bi-monthly billing was common practice amongst Ontario LDCs when meter and read data collection was manual in nature.  In addition to the reduced quantities of postage and paperwork, less frequent readings meant significant savings in the overall meter-to-cash cycle by reducing the labour costs associated with data collection.  With the introduction of AMI a trend has emerged amongst mid- to small-sized Ontario LDCs, is a move to monthly billing.  In some cases LDCs have created a business-case analysis to better understand the cost impacts associated with a change of this magnitude, while others have moved forward based on anecdotal evidence and the assertion that customer satisfaction is dramatically improved, making the move worth the cost impacts associated with paper and postage."


So I want to stop there and reconfirm:  You did not do a business-case analysis of the move to monthly billing; is that correct?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  And then the last paragraph in that section:

"We will also list the primary cost centres which will need to be considered in a financial analysis."


And it goes on to say:

"Should Oakville Hydro decide that a more comprehensive study is required, perhaps including a business case, this document can serve as an outline."


Now, I'm going to skip 2.1.1, the improved cash flow, for the moment, and go to 2.1.2, improved customer satisfaction, and I've given that's one of the drivers behind this, and it states that:

"LDCs may use improved cash flow to justify the move to monthly billing.  However, almost unanimously, LDCs will report that, once implemented, the most significant impact was improved customer satisfaction.  There are many reasons which may contribute to an overall increased level of satisfaction, which will be listed below."


So again, I'm going to deviate from the report and go to section 4.1, the improved customer satisfaction, and I'm going to deal basically, I think, with the first two bullet points that are listed there under section 4.1.  First bullet point states:

"Lower dollar amounts, in addition to making payments easier to manage, lower bills tend to produce fewer customers calls to the LDC to question billing accuracy, quantities, and/or other charges."


So first of all, do you agree with that statement, and if you do, how have you accounted for that in your OM&A forecast for 2014?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  I really can't comment on that statement, because we haven't experienced this, so, I mean -- I'm sorry, I just -- I don't know.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Second bullet point:

"Producing bills more frequently enhances customer-education efforts.  Customers are more easily able to understand consumption patterns closer to real time, and increased frequency of the billing means that customers better understand their consumption patterns."


And then it gives an example.


But the bottom line is again that -- is that I take it you wouldn't know if that would really lead to reduced number of calls to your call centre?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  No, I really wouldn't know at this point in time.  We also have all of that data available online, next-day presentation, currently, so I'm not certain that would necessarily be the case.


MS. NANNINGA:  Could I interject?  We also offer equal billing.  So we actually have a small uptake on that; is that correct, Ms. Yaraskavitch?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  Yes, about 9 percent of our customers.


MS. NANNINGA:  But our customers currently can receive lower-dollar-amount bills than they would receive through bi-monthly billing by taking the equal-payment option.


MR. AIKEN:  Has Kitchener-Wilmot talked to any other utilities who moved from monthly -- sorry, bi-monthly to monthly billing to see what their impacts were?


MS. NANNINGA:  No, we haven't.


MR. AIKEN:  Why not?


MS. NANNINGA:  I don't know.  I think the main driver, I mean, outside of customer satisfaction was because at one time the Minister of Energy was talking about mandating monthly billing within the Province of Ontario.  And so since we were going into a cost-of-service year, Kitchener-Wilmot kind of thought, you know what?  Maybe this is the time to do it before it gets mandated and we have to do a mad scramble in order to comply with a Minister of Energy's directive.


MR. AIKEN:  So now I'm going back to section 2.1.1, improved cash flow, in the Util-Assist report.  And the first line there states that:

"LDCs, which have created business cases to justify increasing the billing frequency, have found that the largest quantifiable benefit to be improved cash flow."


And again, this is the benefit that you haven't quantified; right?  There is no lead-lag study?


MS. NANNINGA:  Correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Then at section 3 it goes in -- the report goes into greater detail on the improved cash flow.  On the bullet points that are listed there, instead of spending time going through them now, could I have an undertaking that for each bullet point you indicate whether you agree or disagree with the report, and if you agree with the report, what reductions or what changes you've made in your OM&A expenses as a result of the issue dealt with in the bullet point?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, sir, I have some difficulty with this.  Ms. Nanninga's already indicated that there has been no lead-lag study.  She has no information about whether improved cash flow would be the result of moving to monthly billing.


For my friend Mr. Aiken to give her a dozen bullet points here to answer whether she agrees or disagrees with him, she has already told you she doesn't have the evidence on that.  I think it's inappropriate for Mr. Aiken to be creating evidence here using somebody else's report, prepared for another utility, for another application, when he already has Ms. Nanninga's information and evidence that they don't know that, and they won't know that until they performed a lead-lag study.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I took Mr. Aiken's effort to just be one of efficiency of perhaps doing this offline rather than going through the oral element of something which I think is going to be, you know, straightforward and in the same format that Mr. Aiken has been doing orally.  I think the undertaking would just present exactly the type of answers we may hear orally in a more efficient manner.  Mr. Aiken, is that --


MR. AIKEN:  That's exactly the case, yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, I understand that.  I think that Mr. Aiken and the Board shouldn't be surprised if KW Hydro doesn't have a lot of answers for those questions, because the Board's already heard that there are no answers to those questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  The Board will receive those answers then and won't be surprised or will not be surprised or we'll deal with it as we see it.


MS. HELT:  All right then.  Mr. Chair, perhaps we'll note that as Undertaking J1.2, and that will be an undertaking on the part of Kitchener and I believe Ms. Nanninga or Ms. Yaraskavitch to provide her comments with respect to the bullet points set out on page 21 of 71 of the compendium of Energy Probe, which is K1.2, and to indicate whether or not she agrees or disagrees with each of these bullet points, understanding that the response may be they cannot answer because the facts do not apply to Kitchener-Wilmot itself.  But nevertheless, to make an effort to answer whether or not they disagree or agree with the bullet points, and if they do agree, what impact or change there would have to be made to the OM&A expenses as a result of that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just perhaps a correction, Mr. Aiken, on the very last element of that, Ms. Helt, is what effects, what impacts have been reflected in the OM&A expense.  Not what would be, but what have been reflected.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  to INDICATE WHETHER KWHI AGREES OR DISAGREES WITH EACH BULLET POINT ON PAGE 21 OF 71 OF THE ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM, AND IF IT AGREES, WHAT IMPACT OR CHANGES ARE REFLECTED IN OM&A EXPENSES AS A RESULT.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Aiken, is that satisfactory?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Mr. Chair, would this be a good time, perhaps, to take a break?


MR. QUESNELLE:  It would be, Mr. Aiken.  Thank you very much.

We'll break until 20 after 11:00.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:02 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:24 a.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Aiken?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I have a preliminary matter.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd, yes?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  My friend Mr. Sidlofsky a couple of times this morning has objected to Mr. Aiken asking questions about third-party studies and putting them to the witnesses, and I'm going to be doing the same.  And I thought I had better raise it earlier rather than later, because I think this may be a theme, at least on working capital.


It is normal practice when you are planning to rely on a study in your argument to put it to the witnesses first if you can, if you have it available at the time of the oral proceeding.  And I propose to do the same.  The witnesses may well say that they don't know anything about it and they can't respond, but they at least normally are given the opportunity.


I don't think Mr. Sidlofsky would disagree with me, but his objections appear to try to limit that, and I wanted to raise it before it got too far.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Let's clarify Mr. Sidlofsky's stance on that.  Thank you.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, I understand what my friend is saying, and I do understand that this often happens with third-party reports.  My concern isn't so much with the fact that these reports are being put to the panel.  I mean, frankly, I can tell you at this point our argument will be that they really shouldn't carry any weight in these circumstances, and you've already heard me on that during my objections to Mr. Aiken's questions, but I feel that it's important that the Board understand that these aren't Kitchener-Wilmot's reports.  They weren't commissioned by Kitchener-Wilmot.  They haven't been reviewed by Kitchener-Wilmot.  And you've in fact heard the Kitchener-Wilmot witness panel addressing that.


And I'm sure my friends will be arguing that the reports should carry weight in relation to the KWHI request.  We will have our own reply to that, clearly, but I do understand what my friend Mr. Shepherd is doing

It needs to be clear, though, that they may not have answers for the Board, and that's not because of any desire to not be helpful to the Board.  It's because these aren't their reports, they haven't considered them, and they don't have those answers because they haven't done their own.


MR. QUESNELLE:  No, that's fine, and I took your earlier comments to be, one, in response to the -- a cross-examination that was looking for an interpretation of the Board policy and the merits of the Board policy, and the second one being in concern about the merits of the undertaking itself, and -- but I think the clarification is well-taken, and I think we're all on the same page.  Thank you very much.


Mr. Aiken?


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.


I want to continue now with the working capital analysis percentage, specifically the 13 percent factor that is being used by Kitchener-Wilmot.  So could you turn to page 28 of the compendium.  This is a summary that I've put together based on lead-lag studies that the Board has seen and approved for electricity distributors.  And I just want to pause here and note that in the compendium, at pages 29 through 59, I believe, I've included the Navigant Consulting Inc. lead-lag study that was filed for Horizon that shows a calculation of Horizon percentage, and that's the complete Navigant study.  In addition, I've attached the relevant pages from the Navigant studies for Toronto Hydro, for Hydro One, and London Hydro.  Ottawa Hydro did their own study and had Navigant review it for reasonableness.  And as I mentioned, in pages 29 through 59 I've included the pages that have all the number of days that I've used on my summary schedule on page 28 of the compendium.


So that's just for the Board's information as to -- it can see where all the numbers come from.


So for Kitchener-Wilmot, will you take it subject to check that when the Board issued its April 12th, 2012 letter reducing the 15 percent WCA to 13 percent, it had seen and approved the first four percentages shown on lines 4 through 7; in other words, the Hydro Ottawa, Horizon Utilities, Toronto Hydro, and Hydro One Distribution lead-lag studies?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Do you acknowledge that the average of these four is almost exactly 13 percent?


MS. NANNINGA:  Just by visually looking at it, I would say yes.


MR. AIKEN:  So do you believe it would be reasonable to assume that these four cases are the cases the Board reviewed and made its decision to change the 15 percent to 13 percent?


MS. NANNINGA:  I really don't know.  I can't assume anything.  I don't know what they used as their data.


MR. AIKEN:  Would you agree that it would be reasonable for a reasonable person, having seen four studies that average 13 percent, that could be the driver of the change?

MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Would you also take it subject to check that the lead-lag studies for Ottawa, Horizon, Hydro One, and Toronto Hydro that the Board had seen prior to the April 12th letter all reflect significant numbers of customers billed on a bi-monthly basis?


MS. NANNINGA:  That I don't know.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So I want to take you to the Horizon study, and specifically page 38 of 71.  Do you have that?


MS. NANNINGA:  I do, sorry.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, the table 1 there -- and you'll see a service lag in that table -- is 30.27 days.  And then for the definition of a service lag it follows in the next paragraph.  And it states:
"A service lag measures a time from the company's provision of electricity to a customer to the time the customer-service period ends and the meter is read.  Interviews with company's customer-services staff indicated that the company's smaller (residential small commercial customers) on a bi-monthly service schedule.  Larger customers are on a monthly schedule.  Considering this information and using a midpoint methodology, a service lag of 30.27 days was determined for the company's regulated distribution operations."


Now, in terms of -- if you're not familiar with the midpoint methodology, if you go back to page 36 of 71 in the Navigant study, if you look at the second formula on that page, where it says "midpoint equals A over B, all divided by 2", my question is, are you familiar with the concept that a monthly billed customer has a service lag of 15.21 days?


MS. NANNINGA:  No, I'm not.


MR. AIKEN:  Would you take it subject to check that that that equals 365 days in a year, divided by 12 months, divided by 2, to get a midpoint?


MS. NANNINGA:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  And for customers that are billed on a bi-monthly basis, their mid-point is 30.42 days, or double what it is for a monthly customer.


MS. NANNINGA:  Okay.  I follow.  I just need to check it, yeah.


MR. AIKEN:  So then you can see by the Horizon weighted lag of 30.27 days, they obviously bill a large number of customers on a bi-monthly basis.  Otherwise the service lag would be 15.21 days.


MS. NANNINGA:  Right.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So then in -- back on page 28 in the compendium -- sorry, I just lost my reference here -- on section B, that is labelled the revenue lag on that table, if you look at the service-lag component, I've broken the total revenue lag down into the component -- the service lag, the building lag, the collection lag, and the processing lag.


So this includes the four distributors I talked about earlier.  It also includes London Hydro.  London Hydro has been added at line 21.


And so are you aware that London Hydro is the only electricity distributor that has followed lead-lag study and bills all of its customers on a monthly basis?


MS. NANNINGA:  No.


MR. AIKEN:  Were you aware of the London lead-lag study?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  In the service-lag column, you'll see that London Hydro is indeed the only one that has a service lag of 15.21 days.


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  So would you confirm then that the other utilities shown there do not bill all their customers on a monthly basis?  Otherwise their service lag would be identical to London Hydro's?


MS. NANNINGA:  I suppose.  I really would have to read more on this to understand everything that's in front of me.


MR. AIKEN:  Am I correct that you do not believe that the London Hydro percentage of 11.42 percent, which is shown on line 9, should be applicable to Kitchener-Wilmot?  And I assume the answer is yes, so I'm going to ask you to explain why.


MS. NANNINGA:  That is correct.  We don't believe that London Hydro's is correct.  London Hydro's -- it's a totally different utility than we are.  They have 295,000 customers.  It's got some of the highest per-capita income in Ontario.


Kitchener-Wilmot has had a depressed economy, a blue-collar town that has gone through significant plant closures.  And again, we haven't done a study.


And Ms. Yaraskavitch would like to add something to that.


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  In addition to Ms. Nanninga's comments, we understand also that London Hydro bills for water, which is distinctly different than Kitchener-Wilmot.


MR. AIKEN:  So on the first number of reasons you gave, other than the water, which I understand, how do those differences -- number of customers, well-off customers -- how does that affect the timing of when you read meters, when you bill, when you pay your IESO invoice?  Because that's what a lead-lag study is about; it's about cash flow.


MS. NANNINGA:  It doesn't affect that, but it would affect the cash coming in the door, back.


MR. AIKEN:  But a cash flow study already takes into account the fact that some of the revenues are never going to be collected.  That's bad debt.


MS. NANNINGA:  I haven't got a study.  I haven't done a study, so I cannot say whether London Hydro's 11.42 is appropriate to Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro.  I just don't have the data.


MR. AIKEN:  Data that you could have had if you had done a lead-lag study?


MS. NANNINGA:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Would you agree that the other components of the revenue lag that are shown on page 28, which are the billing lag, the collection lag and the processing lag, while varying from utility to utility, are all within a relatively narrow range?


And before you answer, I just want to explain why Hydro One has no processing lag.  They don't have a magic wand.  What they did in their lead-lag study is they actually put the processing lag as part of the collection lag.  That's why their collection lag is actually a little higher than the others.


But in terms of those three lags, would you agree that they are all within a relatively small range?


MS. NANNINGA:  The collection lag seems to be a bit more variable, but the rest of them seem to be reasonably close.


MR. AIKEN:  Do you have any reason to suspect that Kitchener-Wilmot would be an outlier in terms of the number of days for any of those lags?


MS. NANNINGA:  I don't know.


MR. AIKEN:  Similarly, I'm moving to section C, the cost of power.  This is an expense lead for each of the utilities there, as shown.  And again, there's little variance in those figures.


Am I correct in my understanding that the deadlines for paying the IESO each month are standard across the industry?


MS. NANNINGA:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Again in this case, the figures for Kitchener-Wilmot would be very similar to those shown?


MS. NANNINGA:  Sorry, could you repeat that?


MR. AIKEN:  The figures for Kitchener-Wilmot in terms of the cost of power would be similar to the days shown there for those other utilities?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, they would.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, if you look at -- and you don't have to do this, but if you pulled up the revenue requirement work form that was filed as part of the settlement agreement, you would see that the cost of power represents about 91 percent of the cost of power and controllable expenses that's used in the working capital allowance calculation, the remaining 9 percent being OM&A.  So we know that 91 percent of those payments you make basically at the same time as these other utilities do.


For the other 9 percent, the OM&A, do you have any reason to suspect that those leads are significantly different from any of the distributors shown?  In other words, is there anything specific to Kitchener-Wilmot that would make a difference when it comes to paying third-party providers, or your wages and benefits costs or taxes and benefits?


MS. NANNINGA:  I don't believe so, but again, I don't really know.  The different -- I know that in my previous life, different companies have different payment schedules.  Some pay in 60 days, 90 days.  Kitchener-Wilmot is a very good-paying customer, but I really can't compare myself to another utility because I have never worked there.


MR. AIKEN:  Would it be reasonable to assume that the five utilities shown, amongst themselves, may have differences in terms of the timing of when they pay various OM&A-related costs?


MS. NANNINGA:  I would say so.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, if you move to monthly billing, am I correct to assume that there would be no impact on the timing of when you pay the cost of power or your OM&A-related expense?


MS. NANNINGA:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Would there be any impact on the billing collection and payment processing lags if you moved to monthly billing?


MS. NANNINGA:  On the billing lag?  Sorry?


MR. AIKEN:  Yeah, the billing lag, the time between the meter read and when you print and send out a bill.


MS. NANNINGA:  Ms. Yaraskavitch, could you answer those questions?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  There would be no impact on the billing lag.


MR. AIKEN:  And the second part of my question was the collection -- and you put these together, collection and payment processing lags.  You're sending out smaller invoices.


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  That is --


MR. AIKEN:  You wouldn't expect the collection lag to be longer than it is when you're bi-monthly?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  That is undetermined, because if we do plan to go to monthly billing, we may look at that whole process.  So I would be basing it on answers on our current regime, which is bi-monthly.


MR. AIKEN:  What would increase the collection lag if you went to monthly?


I can understand the collection lag decreasing because some customers may pay their bills quicker, because it's $100 coming out of their bank account instead of $200 each month, but what would drive an increase in the collection lag?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  It would depend on what threshold the LDC would set as to when they are going to actively pursue an account on a collection basis beyond notices, meaning if we are going to go to the customer's premise and try to collect the money, if that threshold changes as a result of monthly billing and the person is under that and they may elect not to pay that bill and go into a -– almost, like, back to a bi-monthly basis, insofar as collections.


MR. AIKEN:  So what you're saying is that you may leave the amount outstanding longer than you currently do after you go to monthly billing, because the amounts are lower?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  It depends on whatever threshold we would set as the amount that we would actively pursue for collections.


MR. AIKEN:  I guess, sorry, I'm not being clear.  What I'm asking is:  Are you contemplating changing that threshold when you go to monthly billing?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  We haven't done the full examination of that as yet.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, would you take it again, subject to check -- and I'm sorry I didn't put the calculation on the page -- that the average revenue lag is 72.94 days?


This is lines 17 through 20.  This is from the four studies that the Board had seen before it issued its April 2012 letter.


MS. NANNINGA:  The average is, sorry, what?


MR. AIKEN:  72.94, the total revenue lag, the last column?


MS. NANNINGA:  Okay.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, we saw earlier in the Util-Assist report the statement that the benefits associated with improved cash flow could be easily quantified.


So if you go to section D on page 28 of the compendium, this is about as simple as you can get.  It's a simple formula.  It is what a lead-lag study does.  It comes up with two numbers.  You have a revenue lag and you have expense leads.  The difference between the two is the net lag leads, and that -- in this case I've set to 13 percent, based on the Board's policy.


Now, if the 13 percent is reflective of the four approved figures that the Board had seen when it changed the working capital to 13 percent, this 13 percent equates to 47.45 days, and then by simple subtraction the expense leads, days associated with the working capital analysis of 13 percent, is 25.49.


So what I'm saying is 72.94 is the revenue lag in days.  The expense leads is 25.49 days.  That gives you the net lag days of 47.45, and when divided by 365 that's your 13 percent.  Do those numbers all, subject to check, seem reasonable?


MS. NANNINGA:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  You're going to have a lot to check.


I want to turn now to the Hydro Ottawa calculations.  And you'll see the reason in a moment.  So this is pages 49 and 50 of the compendium.  In table 3, on page 49 -- this is from Hydro Ottawa Limited EB-2011-0054.  Table 3 shows a calculation of the service lag which is based on the number of customers billed bi-monthly with a service period midpoint of 30.42 days that we talked about earlier, and the number of customers billed monthly with a service period midpoint of 15.21 days, and you'll see that they have done it by rate class, and they come up -- that's how they came up with their service lag of 30.24 days in their lead-lag study.


Now, what I want to do is to calculate the service lag for Kitchener-Wilmot based on your current mix of monthly and bi-monthly billed customers.  Based on your evidence at Exhibit 4, tab 1, schedule 2, table 4.6 -- and you don't need to pull it up now -- the evidence there says that Kitchener-Wilmot has a total of 93,835 customers in 2014.  This is actually the OM&A cost-per-customer table that I'm referring to.  And it shows that the total number of customers is 93,835.


And then based on table 3.22 in appendix B to the settlement agreement, the number of residential and GS-less-than-50 customers, which are the two big classes you're moving to monthly billing, there are 90,407 customers in those two classes combined, meaning that there are -- the difference are roughly 3,400 customers, and I emphasize customers, not connections, but customers that are billed on a monthly basis.  Does that sound correct to you?


MS. NANNINGA:  The numbers sound correct, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So if you take the 90,000 at 30 days -- and I'm rounding the numbers here -- and the 3,400 to 15 days, would you take, again subject to check, that the weighted service lag for Kitchener-Wilmot is currently -- or is 29.86 days, based on your current mix of monthly and bi-monthly billing?


MS. NANNINGA:  That would be subject to check.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.


And when you go to monthly billing, the service lag is going to decrease to 15.21 days, the same as for London Hydro, correct?


MS. NANNINGA:  Sorry?


MR. AIKEN:  When you go to monthly billing and everybody is switched over, your service lag is going to decrease to 15.21 days.


MS. NANNINGA:  Correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  So this decrease of about 14 to 15 days in the service lag, when divided by 365 days in the year, gives you a figure of about four percentage points.  So based on that, if these numbers are correct, would you agree that the 13 percent default percentage would be reduced to about 9 percent?


MS. NANNINGA:  I really don't know.  I need to see all the calculations laid out.


MR. AIKEN:  I guarantee you they will be in my argument.


MS. NANNINGA:  I'm sure they will be.

[Laughter]


MR. AIKEN:  So a question.  Assuming that the 13 goes to 9 percent, do you believe that a reduction of this magnitude is reasonable, as a result of going to monthly billing?


MS. NANNINGA:  From 13 to 9?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.


MS. NANNINGA:  It seems excessive.  There's an awful lot of other factors, I think, that need to be considered.  I can't believe that the deemed rate has missed the mark that much.


MR. AIKEN:  Could you turn to page 60 of the compendium?  This is an interrogatory response from Hydro Ottawa to Board Staff related to Ottawa's proposal to move all customers to monthly billing.  Hydro Ottawa is not proposing to do this in their 2012 test year, but in the future, in 2014.


The response indicates that moving their residential and GS-less-than-50 customers to monthly billing would reduce the working capital percentage from 14.2 percent to 9.6 percent.  That's a reduction of 4.6 percentage points.


Given this information, do you believe that the reduction for Kitchener-Wilmot would or could be of a similar magnitude?


MS. NANNINGA:  I don't know without taking a look at all the numbers.


MR. AIKEN:  And then finally, just to add some numbers to this, could you turn to the last page in the compendium, specifically section 2 of page 71.  There you will see I have provided some pre-tax return calculations based on the approved capital structure and debt and equity rates.


Do you agree that the pre-tax return on equity is 12.39 percent, based on the after-tax return of 9.36 percent and your tax rate of 24.45 percent?  Again, subject to check?


MS. NANNINGA:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And then your after-tax return -- sorry, your overall pre-tax cost to capital would therefore be 7.74 percent?  And this is the impact that customers have to bear?  In other words, it's what the customers pay.  You get to keep your after-tax return, and the difference goes to the government?


MS. NANNINGA:  That sounds right, yeah.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And then finally, the second set of calculations under section 2 shows that a 1 percent change in the working capital allowance equates to a little more than $2 million in rate base, and a cost of -- and a cost to ratepayers of just over 160,000.  Do those calculations look correct?


MS. NANNINGA:  I have those exact same calculations.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  You'll be happy to know that's the end of my working-capital analysis cross-examination.


MS. NANNINGA:  Thank you.

[Laughter]


MR. AIKEN:  I'm sure others in the room are happy too.


I'm moving on now to OM&A.  And I believe the final number that you're asking for is $18,480,760 from the settlement agreement.


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Have you made any budgeting changes or improvements since your last cost-of-service application?


MS. NANNINGA:  We -- for 2014?  2013?


MR. AIKEN:  For any time since your -- you filed your 2010 cost-of-service application.

MS. NANNINGA:  We submitted our 2014 budget to our board of directors in December.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, but I'm talking about, have you made any improvements to improve the accuracy or reliability of your budgeting process from what you did in 2009 for your 2010 rate filing, compared to what you did in 2012 and '13 for your 2014 rate filing?  Or are you still using the same process?


MS. NANNINGA:  No, well, it's the same process.  We've bought new software that -- or replaced some software that has improved our budgeting process, the flow of it, but it is basically the same budget process in place.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Could you turn to the last page of the compendium, if you've flipped off of that.  Under section 3 you'll find line 43 labelled "final as filed".  And you'll see the footnote there where that information comes from.  It's Undertaking JT1.15 and 4 Energy Probe 33.


So I just want to make sure I have my numbers correct here.  So do you agree the figures on line 43 are accurate?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, I do.


MR. AIKEN:  I've also labelled each column as either "Old CGAAP" or "New CGAAP."  We all know the difference that took place between 2011 and '12.


When I look at that, the difference in line 43 between 2011 and '12, I see about a $2.7 million difference, and about 1.7 million of that is related to the old versus new.  And you'll see that I've used the adjustment on line 47.  What I'm trying to do here is get an apples-to-apples comparison through all the years.


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  So in line 47, you can see I've reduced the OM&A in 2012, '13 and '14 by just under 1.7 million, to convert everything back to old CGAAP.


And I take it that number comes from your evidence and through the interrogatory responses, so I assume you have no problem with that adjustment?


MS. NANNINGA:  No.  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  The other adjustment I've made is related to smart meters, and you'll see that on line 44.


My understanding is that in 2012 when the Board approved the disposal of the smart meter deferral account, you recorded the entire amount in the 2012 OM&A; is that correct?


MS. NANNINGA:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  If we go back to the final cost driver table on page 63 in the compendium, this is the million -- if I can find it -- yes, a million and 84,000 shown in the "2012 Actuals" column labelled as the "effect of the smart meter decision."


And then in -- on the next page of the compendium, in response to 4 Energy Probe 30, you broke this amount out into the years in which the expenditures actually took place.  So then that's where the 162,000 was actually spent in 2009, and another 162,000 in 2010 and so on.  So that's where I got the numbers that I've used on line 44 of my adjustment schedule.


So based on that adjustment, do those numbers look appropriate?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, they do.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  When you look at your actual 2012 expenditures, they are actually lower than the Board-approved 2010 figures, and that led me to look at your forecast for 2010 from your last rates case.


And I understand most of the difference was based on some capital work you undertook in 2010 that you hadn't forecast, so your resources were diverted from OM&A to capital?


MS. NANNINGA:  Significantly, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  So then if you look at 2009 actual expenditures of 12.2 million that are showed there, this is more than $1.1 million or 8-and-a-half percent below the bridge year forecast from your last rates filing, which was 13.3 million.  And that, you can see on the previous page in the compendium, which is the page out of your 2010 rates filing.


And my question is:  Was that due to the same reason?


MS. NANNINGA:  2010 and --


MR. AIKEN:  The 2009.


MS. NANNINGA:  2009 and '10 were both diverted years to -- for TS 9, it was?  Right?  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  That eliminates a lot of questions.


So then based on the 2012 actual figure -- I'm back in section 3 now on page 71 -- you're requesting the Board approve a $2.1 million increase -– sorry, yes, 2.1 million -- this is from line 43 -- $2.1 million or 12.8 percent increase in your OM&A.


Subject to check, are those numbers right?


MS. NANNINGA:  Subject to check.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  But really the increase you're looking for is more like 2.8 million, is it not?  If you look at the adjusted line 45?


MS. NANNINGA:  That's correct.  2.8, that's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  My question is:  Why haven't you adjusted your request for the $700,000 in 2012 that you didn't spend in 2012?  The smart meter-related amount?


MS. NANNINGA:  I don't understand your question.


MR. AIKEN:  Well, your evidence indicates that you could live with a 12.8 percent increase in OM&A from 2012 to 2014; that's your evidence as filed on line 43.


But in fact, 730,000 of your number in 2012 are for expenses that were not incurred in 2012.  So my question is:  Could you live with the 12.8 percent increase over your adjusted 2012 or your actual expenditures that took place in 2012?


MS. NANNINGA:  I'm sorry, but I'm really not understanding your question.  Like, our request is 18.48 million.  I'm just -- I'm sorry, I'm not following.


MR. AIKEN:  Let me try and rephrase it.  Your request for the 18.48 represents a 12.8 percent increase over your last year of actuals in 2012?  That's from line 43.


MS. NANNINGA:  So that's the 15.6 to the 18.5?


MR. AIKEN:  No, that's the 16.39 to the 18.48.


MS. NANNINGA:  Okay.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay?  So my question is:  If you can live with the 12.8 percent increase, why should that increase be based on a number in 2012 that includes expenditures that took place in previous years?


MS. NANNINGA:  The -- I agree with your numbers, and again, I'm still not under -- I'm just not following.  Maybe I'm getting brain dead.  I don't know.


But we've been doing the exact same analysis that you have just done.  We've done it over and over and over again, taking it and putting to old GAAP.  And the increase that we have applied for, we have taken out the smart meter decision entirely when coming up with our budget for 2014 and 2013.  We haven't grossed it up for the $732,000 that was in 2012.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Let me just -- first of all, I'm not talking about old CGAAP, because if you'll notice on line 45, after you take out the smart meter adjustment, this is still new CGAAP.


So on a new-CGAAP-to-new-CGAAP basis, you're requesting an increase from 15.658 million to 18.48 million, which is about an 18 percent increase over two years?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Are you aware that in recent Board decisions related to the acceptable level of OM&A increases, the Board has tended to use an envelope approach?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.  I understand that.


MR. AIKEN:  And that the annual increases approved by the Board have been in the range of 2-and-a-half percent per year over the last -- either the last year of actuals or over the last Board-approved set of numbers?


MS. NANNINGA:  I do.


MR. AIKEN:  Do you also agree that this increase was based on -- it wasn't just the Board picking out a number, but it was based on inflation and customer growth and expected productivity improvements over those years?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  That brings me to table -- the table in section 1, on the last page of the compendium.


You touched upon the productivity factors and the -- your rankings earlier this morning.  Do you accept that the base productivity factors and the stretch factors I've shown in table 1 for 2011 through 2014 are the correct variables?


MS. NANNINGA:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  And then for the inflation, if you look at footnote number 1, the 2011 and '12 figures I've shown there of 2.3 and 1.9 percent that I've included in this table are the actual increases in the GDP IPI FDD --


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  -- variable from Stats Canada.  And they are actually a little bit higher than the Board-approved figures that were applied to the IRM rates in those years.


And then 2013 and '14 are the Board-approved figures.  They haven't been replaced by actuals, because we don't have actuals yet.


So with that preamble, would you accept that the inflation factors, along with the customer growth numbers that are shown in line 7, are accurate?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yeah, subject to check, yeah.


MR. AIKEN:  Then back on section 3 at line 45 -- oh, sorry, I covered that part already.


Now, I assume you don't have any audited -- actual audited financial figures for 2013?


MS. NANNINGA:  No, not yet.


MR. AIKEN:  If you did, I would be really, really shocked.


MS. NANNINGA:  I would be very surprised.

[Laughter]


MR. AIKEN:  In the response to 4 Energy Probe 33, which is somewhere in my compendium, page 66, you provided a year-to-date comparison for 2003 to 2012 through August.  And I had asked that the comparison not include any expenses in 2012 for smart-meter expenses incurred in prior years.  I just wanted to confirm that that's what I'm seeing here.


MS. NANNINGA:  Ms. Muir?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.


MS. MUIR:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, the increase here on a year-over-year basis for eight months is about two-and-a-half percent.  I guess my question is, do you now have an update that you could provide that showed more recent year-to-date information?


MS. NANNINGA:  The most recent I have is November.


MR. AIKEN:  Could you then undertake to provide this table for year-to-date November -- let me try to get the phrasing of this right.


Can you provide an update to the response to part (d) of 4 Energy Probe 33 that shows the most recent year-to-date comparison, and for any significant increase over the two-and-a-half percent that is shown for year-to-date August, what is driving that increase?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.  Do you want it in the same format as this, or in appendix 2-G format, or how would you like it to look?


MR. AIKEN:  Just a summary of the operating costs shown here is sufficient for my purposes.


MS. NANNINGA:  Okay.


MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:   TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE TO THE RESPONSE TO PART D OF 4 ENERGY PROBE 33 THAT SHOWS THE MOST RECENT YEAR-TO-DATE COMPARISON, AND FOR ANY SIGNIFICANT INCREASE OF THE TWO-AND-A-HALF PER CENT SHOWN FOR YEAR-TO-DATE AUGUST, WHAT IS DRIVING THAT INCREASE, AND TO IDENTIFY THE AMOUNT SPECIFICALLY RELATED TO THE CHANGE IN SMART-METER COSTS BETWEEN 2012 ACTUALLY INCURRED AND 2013


MR. AIKEN:  Now, am I correct that in the increase that you will show me, some of that will be related to smart meters?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, that's true.


MR. AIKEN:  And so can you maybe as an addendum to that undertaking, could you identify the amount that is specifically related to the change in smart-meter costs between 2012 actually incurred and 2013?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, we can do that.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, finally, I want to take a look at the cost-driver table, and in particular I want to compare the original one from the pre-filed evidence, which is on page 61 of the compendium, with the most recent one from Undertaking JT1.15, which is on page 63 of the compendium.


So maybe if we can have one of them on the screen, and you've got a hard copy for the other one.  And what I want to do is compare the original cost driver from the pre-filed evidence with the last one, in terms of the 2013 and '14 columns.


So for a number of these, for example, lines -- I'm sorry, they're not numbered.  But the pension and benefit, the general salary increases, et cetera, those numbers are identical for both years and both sets of tables.  And there are some other items further down that are the same.


And then we get to the monthly billing, where there's a change, and we've talked about that, because, although your focus is going to be on that in 2014, you didn't do anything in 2013, so that is understandable.


There are -- the one big change is the effect of the smart-meter decision.  That is where you go from an increase of 345,000 in the original cost-driver table to a reduction of 739,000.  So it's almost a $1.1 million swing.


MS. NANNINGA:  Yeah, the first one --


MR. AIKEN:  Similarly --


MS. NANNINGA:  Sorry, the first one, there's an error there.  The 2012 actuals in the original appendix 2-J shows 1.1 million in 2012, and then, based on the cost driver, the way that it is -- the table works is you would be adding on another 345,000 in 2013, but that's simply not correct.


So the third version here takes off the 739 to bring it down to the 345.  Correct, Ms. Muir?


MS. MUIR:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.  And then on the inflation, the non-labour line, which is a few lines below that, the 2014 number has gotten lower because of the change in the 2 percent to the 1.6 percent.


MS. NANNINGA:  Correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, what I find interesting in the JT1.15 is that, even though there's a million-dollar swing in the cost driver because of the smart-meter decision, the bottom line was still the same.  We still end up with 17.431 million.


So clearly what you've done is you've added other cost drivers in the latest version compared to what was filed initially.


MS. NANNINGA:  Yeah.  Like I said, the cost-driver table, you could make version after version of it.  It's -- there's categories.  You've got costs embedded in one piece that are embedded in another piece.  Every line on appendix 2-G, almost every line, anyway, has pension and payroll benefits embedded in it.  So once you pull them out, now anybody who is reading the application can't follow where the numbers that you're putting in the table came from, because now you're stripping things out.  Your filed evidence, your verbage (sic), is no longer equalling what you're putting in your cost-driver table.


So we've really, really had a lot of challenges with the cost-driver table.  Some of you who were involved in 2009 in our 2010 rate application might remember that at that time I said, because somebody asked me, Why don't your numbers equal next year, like, your following year, and I said, Because you can't make it happen without having basically a large miscellaneous group.


It really is a challenge to make an effective cost-driver table.  Again, as I said earlier, that's why we think appendix 2-G is really where you want to look.


MR. AIKEN:  I can tell you I totally agree with you.


MS. NANNINGA:  Thank you, because I can't say it enough.


MR. AIKEN:  But now I may not go on to agree with you on some other issues.


MS. NANNINGA:  I figured that.


MR. AIKEN:  So a lot of these cost drivers that you've added, I see things like, you actually have a reduction in 2013, for example, for diversion of resources to OPA programs, and then you've got increases for infrastructure surveys, the dead ash trees you mentioned earlier, property and liability insurance, IT programs and so on.


What I notice is that most or -- the majority of these drivers, anyways, are below your materiality threshold; correct?


MS. NANNINGA:  Back to the same problem, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  So given that they're below your materiality threshold and they weren't in your original evidence, have you provided any description of and the need for these incremental expenditures through the interrogatory process or the technical conference process?


For example, have you -- other than what you talked about this morning, have you talked about, for example, the increase in labour due to smart meters?  $163,000?  Because that's below your materiality threshold.


MS. NANNINGA:  It is below our materiality threshold.


Was it discussed earlier, Ms. Muir?


MS. MUIR:  I don't believe so.  It was introduced, I guess, as the undertaking.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I was looking for information on some of these cost drivers and I couldn't find any, so that's fine.


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.  The increased labour, I actually know exactly what that is, because in 2010 we reduced our meter account, 5065, by, I believe, $500,000 to divert resources to the smart meter initiative.  And that was built into our rate base at that time.  So the return of those dollars back into our rate base -- or into, sorry, our distribution expenses is a real expense that we have, and it is incremental to 2010.


MR. AIKEN:  But isn't this table supposed to show the impact incremental to 2012?


MS. NANNINGA:  Right.  Again, back to the problem with the cost driver table, because you'd have to have a scroll in order to put everything on there because the difference of -- from one year to the next is filled with small amounts that are nowhere near the materiality level, you'd really have to make a really big table.


So when your inflation is coming in at $200,000 a year and you're trying to explain, say, a million dollars, a number of your drivers already exceed the million dollars because you've made efficiency gains in a number of other places.


So I -- I really struggle with this table.


MR. AIKEN:  So I take it you agree that a lot of your increase is made up of individually non-material items?


MS. NANNINGA:  There's a number of non-material items.


There's also, back to what Jerry said -- sorry, Mr. Van Ooteghem said earlier, that we really have been a low-cost operator, and when you're a low-cost operator you've got less room to move than all the -- the other utilities that are running with a larger cushion, so to speak.  We don't have much of a cushion.  We didn't come into this regime with much of a cushion.  So when our expenses are increasing at percentages that are higher than the envelope amount -- which is absolutely a fact.  We've got an average age of -- I can't remember what it is -- 45 or something like that, in our utility.  We've got pensions.  OMERS, as we all know, went up 76 percent or whatever over a number of years.  These are real costs that we –- we are running out of places to absorb.  But they're small ones, and not automatically identifiable in our books.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  If I could just add to that, I mean, we work within the budgets that were given.  And if we have other cost pressures that have increased costs higher than what's allowed for, we look for opportunities elsewhere to increase efficiencies and reduce costs.


And I think we've demonstrated that.  We've been successful doing that.


It's becoming increasingly more difficult.  That's why, in my opening remarks, I mentioned there are not many new initiatives in this application that we have asked for.  We will continue to focus on efficiency gains where we can.  We've been successful and we will continue down that path.  It's the way we operate.  But there are not many new initiatives, and I identified those upfront.


But you're quite right, Mr. Aiken, is that the cost increases are a result of many small adjustments, as opposed to any -- you know, a handful of large items.


MR. AIKEN:  And one final question on this.  The final cost driver table on page 63, there's an increase there in 2013 for IFRS changes, 210,000.


I take it -- first of all, when I saw this I said:  Well, there can't be any change between 2012 and '13 because you converted to IFRS in 2012, so there is no change between 2012 and 2013.


But I take it the answer is because of the difficulty with this table?


MS. NANNINGA:  Ms. Muir?


MS. MUIR:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MS. MUIR:  Thank you for your answer.


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, witnesses.


Panel, those are my questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Aiken.


We'll break for lunch at this point, returning at 20 after 1:00.  And I believe, Mr. Janigan, you're up at that point?


MR. JANIGAN:  That's correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Great.  Thank you very much.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:20 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:21 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  When we left off, I think, Mr. Janigan, you were up next, unless there is something else.  Mr. Sidlofsky, do you have anything?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I don't, sir, thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


Mr. Janigan?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  My friend Mr. Aiken did a rather thorough job with respect to working capital this morning.  I have really very few questions arising therein.  Just a few numbers to possibly confirm.


I'm looking at what Kitchener-Wilmot says is the incremental cost of going to monthly billing.  My reference is on page 6 of my compendium.


MS. HELT:  Perhaps, Mr. Janigan, at this time we can mark your compendium as an exhibit.  That will be Exhibit K1.3, and we'll provide a copy to the Panel.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  VECC Cross-Examination COMPENDIUM

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  We have that now, Mr. Janigan.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.


Now, in response to 4 Energy Probe 67, Kitchener-Wilmot stated that there is an increased cost of going to monthly billing of 401,500, and this is based on, as well  -- or that was confirmed on the technical conference, as far as I am aware.


But in 4 Staff 20 it shows an incremental cost of 416,000 rather than the 401,500.  Can you reconcile those two numbers for me?


MS. NANNINGA:  What was the second interrogatory number?


MR. JANIGAN:  It's 4 Staff 20.


MS. MUIR:  4 Staff 20, the table represents what was in our original application, and it was changed subsequently, the answer, I believe.


MR. JANIGAN:  Is 401,500.


MS. MUIR:  Yeah, and that comes in 4 Staff 20(d), is where that was corrected.  The table presented in 4 Staff 20 is from the original application, and 4 Staff 20(d) is where it gets corrected to 401, five.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.


I would like to deal next with the issue of OM&A.  And first I would like to ask the panel, what is the impact of the Board's treatment of OM&A in a number of decisions by way of an envelope approach.  Has that envelope approach been adopted by Kitchener-Wilmot in relation to budgeting for OM&A, and if not, why not?


MS. NANNINGA:  At this point the envelope approach has not been.  However, that being said, I wouldn't say that we just make up our budgets and, you know, we put in what we want to spend.  We have a certain amount that we're basically allotted, and we have to work within our own envelopes.


So I'm an A person.  My budgets have to stay pretty close to last year, unless I have a really good justification to take to Mr. Van Ooteghem beside me here, and that applies to everyone.


So I wouldn't call it an envelope approach per se.  It's departmental approach for Kitchener-Wilmot.


MR. JANIGAN:  So the parameters that you're originally given are essentially the amounts expended in the previous year?


MS. NANNINGA:  Very close to it.  Of course, when we're budgeting, particularly for certain things, the increases, as I spoke before lunch, have been coming in much higher, OMERS at 76 percent and dental and health and all those other types of benefits in particular.  They come in higher.


But we go to our providers.  We find out what the estimated increase would be in any given year.  I'm speaking on behalf of the group here.  I'm assuming that we all do the same sort of thing, because of course we do have to justify that to our Board.


MR. JANIGAN:  Where does the search for efficiencies come in?  I believe I heard you speaking about in -- with my friend Mr. Aiken this morning.


MS. NANNINGA:  That one, I really would have to defer that to Mr. Van Ooteghem.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  There are a few different ways we do that.  One of them is by looking at our staff complement.  As I mentioned in my opening remarks, we've only provided for three new positions in this four-year period, so one of the ways we look for efficiencies is, when we have a retirement or somebody leaves, we evaluate each position to make sure that it's still appropriate.  If we fill that position in that role, very often the position is redesigned to help out in areas where there are pressures due to customer growth, for example.


So that's one area we look for efficiencies and that we manage efficiencies and by controlling our staff complement, obviously.  Other areas are evaluating some of our programs, you know, are they still providing the benefits we hoped to achieve.


Customer-service standards, where we can, we try and improve our efficiencies by doing more with the same number of people, or through the use of technology, for example, if we can use technology to provide better information to our customers, better information to our own staff to be able to do more than that makes, you know -- we look at it there.


One area we've achieved some efficiencies -- you know, this maybe applies as much to capital as OM&A -- is we've recently restructured our outside work force to create -- we used to have separate jobs for electricians, separate jobs for power-line maintainers.  We have now merged that into one job, called a power-line technician, that we have the flexibility to use that resource in different areas.


So we're not expanding staff, necessarily, and substation maintenance, just to do substation maintenance work, for example.  Even though we added another transformer station, we're maintaining that transformer station with the same number of staff by building in more flexibility into how we can, you know, how we can use our resources more effectively.


MR. JANIGAN:  You testified this morning, I believe, Mr. Van Ooteghem, about the -- Kitchener-Wilmot's pride in its performance among utilities across Ontario.  Is that a factor that goes into the budgeting process, maintenance of your performance standards, I guess, across the board with other utilities?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Definitely.  Our Board receives those reports each year when they come out.  We do an analysis on those reports each year to explain and to show how things have changed.  We pay a lot of attention to our controllable costs per customer, and absolutely, that is a factor that we consider in our performance and of our duties.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, at some point in time do you go back and look at your budget through the lens of the envelope approach that has been adopted in a number of decisions by the Board?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  We have not done that, I would say, to date.  We compare against ourselves more so, in terms of year-over-year budgets and year-over-year programs that we -- you know, that we're managing.


Our programs sometimes aren't -- and we'll probably have this discussion more later on.  Some of them are cyclical in nature.  So some years you will have higher expenses than other years, you know, for some of the reasons already mentioned, diversion of resources.  But sometimes some equipment only gets maintained on a three-year cycle, for example.  So you're going to have higher costs some years than other years, but it's one labour force that we have.


And so, you know, we may have a year where there's high capital needs and lots of man hours required, and our OM&A costs will go down, and the following year it could be the exact opposite.  So we really compare our own needs year-over-year more than industry envelope approach.


MR. JANIGAN:  And I would like to turn to the issue of your adjustment for MC GAAP, just simply to explain some numbers to me.


And in response to -- it's on pages 9 and 10 of my compendium.  In response to 4 Energy Probe 68, you provided two numbers for the adjustment to OM&A that's due to the accounting changes of moving to MC GAAP.  One number is 1,227,168, which I also believe is shown on your cost driver table, appendix 2J on page 11.


Is that number incorrect?  Or are you saying that the adjustment made to the 2014 OM&A account, to account for the accounting change, is closer to 1,692,337?


MS. NANNINGA:  The difference between old GAAP and modified CGAAP is absolutely 1,692,337.  I've been saying that number to a lot of people for a year.


The difference is, is -- and Ms. Muir might be able to speak about that a little bit better than I can.  I believe that some of it is strict changes to OM&A from one accounting to the other.  The other one is things that were disallowed that had previously been burdened that were no longer burdened.


Am I correct, Ms. Muir?


MS. MUIR:  Yes.  The 1,227 is the difference year-over-year, somewhat artificial.


The 1,692 is comparing old GAAP to new GAAP and the difference between them.


The 1,227 is year-over-year.  Because it's from the cost driver table, it's year-over-year.


MR. JANIGAN:  When you say it's not 100 percent incremental increase, it's because there are different items that are being dealt with?


MS. NANNINGA:  There was -- one of the interrogatories actually provided a table that shows the 1,692.  And in fact, there was some salaries of senior staff that were previously burdened that had to be removed and put into 5005, which is the operations account, operations supervision.  And it was in the 300,000 and change amount.


Then there was also other things that had previously been burdened that we could no longer burden, so they went straight to OM&A.


So those costs existed before, but they weren't in OM&A.  So they were transferred to OM&A.


The rest of it, the 1,227, is the absolute difference in the burdening and overhead process.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I think I understand that.


MS. NANNINGA:  It's -- it's difficult.


MR. JANIGAN:  Next, I have a question arising on inflation rates.  And on page 12 -- arises on page 12 of our compendium.  And it's at 4 Staff Interrogatory No. 18, that, in relation to the inflation factors set out, Kitchener-Wilmot states that these are the inflation factors for materials.  They are not CPI.  And in your evidence and in your response, you provide a set of inflation indicators you indicate are related to labour.


In that response, I wonder if you could provide the reason why you chose a different figure than CPI for the year.


MS. NANNINGA:  For 2014?


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MS. NANNINGA:  I would basically say it was an oversight.


The amount at the time that the budgets were being developed by senior staff, they were directed to use 2 percent for 2014.  And subsequently, those budgets should have been adjusted prior to making the rate filing, and it wasn't.  So it got picked up through the interrogatories process.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I would like to deal with the incremental cost of smart meters, and once again more or less a numerical check, and in particular, whether the incremental costs are net of meter-reading savings.


If you look on page 17 of our compendium, it has a response to 4 Energy Probe 37, where it states that the incremental costs for operating smart meters is approximately 352,000.


My question is:  Is this net of meter-reading contracts that were cancelled?  And in Exhibit 4, schedule -- tab 6, schedule 1, there's a list from Olameter, which appears to show a cancelled contract for $306,205.


MS. NANNINGA:  I believe I need to defer that question to Mr. Meston.  Or Ms. Yaraskavitch.  I'm not sure which one.


MR. JANIGAN:  Once again, no eye contact is required.


[Laughter]


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  I can speak to the Olameter contract.


That was one that we -- it was a blanket PO that we did carry previous to smart metering.  So we do still have one Olameter person on contract, but -- because we do have some commercial manual rates.


MR. JANIGAN:  Was that specific contract of 306,205 cancelled?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  It was not renewed.  Correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Not renewed?  And is that -- how does that affect the incremental costs associated with 4 Energy Probe 37?


MS. MUIR:  The incremental costs shown are just the incremental costs.  There is no savings in there.  So they're not net of the savings.


I believe we have identified total savings of $100,000, approximately, from getting rid of manual meter- reading.


MR. JANIGAN:  And the cancelled contract, would that show up in that total?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  No, I don't believe it was, because we -- that was like a blanket.  It wasn't necessarily a -- a 300,000.  It's just a figure we put to it, like a blanket PO for the year.


MR. JANIGAN:  Seems awfully specific --


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  It's not the absolute figure.


MR. JANIGAN:  It seems awfully specific for a blanket figure, $306,205.


[Laughter]


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  Honestly, I think it was carried over from previous years.


MR. JANIGAN:  On 4 Staff 24, you show an increase in IT costs from 1.190 million in 2010 to 1.8 million in 2014.


Can you tell me what portion of that increase is related to smart meters and what, if any, increase of that amount is related to the accounting change?


MS. NANNINGA:  Offhand, I cannot.


MR. JANIGAN:  Can you undertake to provide that information?


MS. NANNINGA:  I can.


MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  to EXPLAIN WHAT PORTION OF INCREASE IN IT COSTS FROM 2010 TO 2014 IS DUE TO SMART METERS, AND WHAT, IF ANY, IS RELATED TO THE ACCOUNTING CHANGE.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thanks.  I would like to deal with some specific cost areas, and the first area I would like to deal with is collection and bad debt costs.


First of all, with respect to bad debt expense, I take it that means amounts from bills that are considered to be uncollectible?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And collection charges are effectively the costs of attempting to collect the bills --


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, that's true.


MR. JANIGAN:  -- that are in arrears?  And I note that, in terms of the costs of, in the collection area, the bad-debt expenses seems to be a significant item, and increasing.


MS. NANNINGA:  What's the, sorry, the -- do you have a reference for it?


MR. JANIGAN:  Sorry.  I should have referred you to the chart that I'm dealing with.  And it's found on -- it's from appendix 2-G, and I believe it's found on page 24 of my compendium.


MS. NANNINGA:  So it's 5320 that you're speaking of?


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, that would be Ms. Yaraskavitch.


MR. JANIGAN:  Let me see if I can...


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  You had mentioned that the bad debt is actually increasing, I'm sorry?


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, it stayed the same from last year, as I noticed, but over -- but the trend is from the last few years that it's been increasing.


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  Yes, actually, we had a couple of large commercial unforeseen bad debts of -- in the general service-greater-than-50 categories that hit us hard, to be honest.


MR. JANIGAN:  And I assume that in relation to bad debts that when it involves residential customers there is an array of programs associated with either emergency assistance leave or budgeting bill that are available to customers that fall into arrears; right?

MS. YARASKAVITCH:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, have these programs been increasing in participation by Kitchener-Wilmot customers?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  Yes, they have.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And overall, as I understand it, these programs have the effect of reducing bad-debt expense?
MS. YARASKAVITCH:  They are typically intended for customers that are in emergency situations that need immediate help.  Whether or not that customer would have left the premise and left a bad debt at that point in time really remains unseen.


MR. JANIGAN:  And I take it the one aspect of the program is, of course, that if the customer was in arrears, can make arrangements to pay over a period of time a large amount?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  We do negotiate payment terms with customers of that nature, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And has that kind of arrangement, those kind of arrangements, increased?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  I honestly don't -- I can't say yes or no to that.  I can't quantify that.


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, it's just that if these kind of programs can work to reduce bad-debt expenses and collection charges, then it seems to me that they should be aggressively pursued by the utility.  Would you agree?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  I would agree, but a lot of these programs are administered through the region of social services, to which we provide funding, and it is a limited amount of funding.


MR. JANIGAN:  But arrangements, you can make arrangements with a customer for payment of arrears over time independent of that kind of arrangement, can you not?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  We do have the arrears management program.  Our experience is on that particular program we're finding that customers are -- really don't desire to go into it.  They're not wanting to commit to a contract.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, your evidence indicates that you have hired or propose to hire an incremental four staff from the levels in 2010, and on page 24, table 4-14, at Exhibit 4, tab 4, schedule 1, page 4 shows an increase from 173 to 177.


In your response to 4 Energy Probe 38, you state that you have hired more collection staff, and I don't see any collection staff noted in the incremental hiring in table 4-14.  Can you explain?


MS. NANNINGA:  I need to look at the exhibit.


MR. JANIGAN:  I think one is on page 17.  The other one is on page 24 of the compendium.


MS. NANNINGA:  I'm sorry, I'm having some difficulty finding the second part.


MR. JANIGAN:  Sure.  The first part is the table 4-14 at Exhibit 4, tab 4, schedule 1, page 4.


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Which I believe is set out on page 24.


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And the other one is 4 Energy Probe 38, which I believe --


MS. NANNINGA:  I found it.  I'm just going to look up that -- the Exhibit 4, tab 4, schedule 1, if you'll give me a second.  Thanks.


MR. JANIGAN:  No problem.


MS. NANNINGA:  Would you have a page number of the exhibit?


MR. JANIGAN:  Which one?  The second one?


MS. NANNINGA:  The second part, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  4 Energy Probe 38, on page 17, I think, of my compendium, if I'm not mistaken.


MS. NANNINGA:  What's the other reference?  It's 441, but I don't have a page number.


MR. JANIGAN:  Which, the first one?  Page 4 -- table 4.14 is at Exhibit 4, tab 4, schedule 1, page 4.


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, I have that one.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And the next one is 4 Energy Probe 38.


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  At page 17.


MS. NANNINGA:  I found it.  Ms. Yaraskavitch, it says:
"Change in work force year over year.  2010 actual versus 2009 actual.  One new position was added as collections clerk and filled by customer-service clerk cashier."


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  That would have been a collection representative, yes.


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  So that --


MS. NANNINGA:  But that would have been outside of this rebasing period.  It would have been in fact during the previous one, I guess.


MR. JANIGAN:  I guess the question is, with -- in relation to the expenses or bad debt and collection charges.


Now, first of all, can I ask, why are your meter-reading charges larger in 2014 than they were pre-smart meters in 2010?


MS. NANNINGA:  That's because in 2010 we dropped $400,000 in our cost of service in 2009 to remove the expenses related to staff that were being reassigned for the smart-meter initiative.  So our meter expense in 5065 was significantly lower than had been in 2007-8 -- 2007 and 8.


So our 5065 was actually artificially low through our last cost of service, so it has jumped back up, but it's a very, very small increase.  I think it was -- I actually had the numbers last night.  But really low.


MR. JANIGAN:  I guess the question arises here, how can you go to monthly billing and add a new collection officer, and yet forecast a larger amount for billing and collecting?


MS. NANNINGA:  Billing and collecting in 2014?


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MS. NANNINGA:  Okay.  The collections clerk was hired in 2009, from what I'm seeing.  So that wasn't in this cost of service cycle.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MS. NANNINGA:  Now, the billing costs have gone up predominantly because of monthly billing.  As for the rest of it, Ms. Yaraskavitch will have to speak to that.


MR. JANIGAN:  So that's the increase from 14 -- look at Account No. 5315.  That's the increase from 1,414 to 1,857,200, which you say accounts for most of that increase?


MS. NANNINGA:  Most of it, yes.


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  Some other things actually added in that are we're moving all of our commercial and industrial accounts from a manual read to a remote interrogation, so there are costs associated with that because it's a third-party interrogation.  And we also have our tower gateway base station, which is our collector and our smart metering.  That's new to this cost centre as well.


MR. JANIGAN:  Have you made adjustments here based on the idea that monthly billing may result in a decrease in collection and bad debt expense?


MS. NANNINGA:  Ms. Yaraskavitch?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  I think we had touched on that earlier.  Again, we're really not sure.  We anticipate it probably will be similar to what we're experiencing now.  We still feel the number of customers that aren't paying their bills will continue not to pay their bills.  The convenience and the satisfaction for the customer on the monthly billing side, we would be remiss not to remember that that's probably for 90 percent of our customers.  It's the 10 percent of our customers that aren't paying their bills now that probably will continue not to pay their bills.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if you could -- I would like to deal with street lighting services, and if you could turn up page 26, and actually I'm looking at the table on page 27 that I wanted to reference.


MS. NANNINGA:  Okay.


MR. JANIGAN:  As I understand it, Kitchener-Wilmot doesn't charge a return for street lighting services, but charges a 9 percent administration fee?


MS. NANNINGA:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And there's a corporate reorg in 2013, so it's going to transfer the activity of the street lighting to an affiliate?


MS. NANNINGA:  That has been the plan.


MR. JANIGAN:  As I understand it, this all will make no practical change in how the activity is undertaken by the utility, but simply to address the prohibition of an LDC directly undertaking street lighting services?


MS. NANNINGA:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Am I correct on that?


Now, I note when I'm looking at the costs associated with -- set out in 1 Staff 2, that there has been virtually no change in the revenue that's associated with this activity from 2008 onward; would you agree with that?


MS. NANNINGA:  It looks pretty steady, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Isn't that -- that seems to be counterintuitive, given the increase in every other expense, including labour?


MS. NANNINGA:  I think that the activity fluctuates.  Mr. Van Ooteghem might be able to talk better on this, but I do believe the activity that is performed does fluctuate year over year.  I don't have the details on each individual work order that we do on behalf of the City of Kitchener and the Township of Wilmot, but it changes.


Mr. Van Ooteghem, do you have anything to add to that?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  I would say it's -- there's two aspects.  It's capital and maintenance services there that we're identifying as costs, and the shareholders basically work within a pretty tight budget when it comes to providing either improvements to street lighting or the budget they would provide to us for maintaining street lighting.


A lot of the costs don't change significantly from year to year.


Now, in subdivisions, of course, the developers are responsible for 100 percent of the street lighting costs.  So these are other -- this is other street lighting work.  They may replace some of the older systems downtown with new systems, but they have a very fixed budget they work within.  And if that means they can do 50 street lights in a year, a string of 50 street lights, that's what they'll do year over year.  So -- and probably it's not even 50 street lights.  It's the dollar amount of the budget they make available to upgrade street lighting or to maintain the existing.


Each year, we contract out or subcontract re-lamping program for street lighting, so that street lights aren't burning out prematurely one by one and we have to send our truck to replace them, which is way more expensive than doing a good re-lamping project.


And the city and the township have both been very good about sticking to that six-year cycle for group re-lamping.  So the costs really aren't varying much, because they control the budget by dollars as opposed to controlling it by volume of work necessarily.


MR. JANIGAN:  So effectively the budget for this is set elsewhere, really.  Is that what you're saying?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  It is.


MR. JANIGAN:  And all your input is administration charge?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  It is administration.  I mean, there's some variances, because if there's faulted street lighting cable or equipment, you know, and if it's going to exceed the budget, the shareholder expects to be informed of that and they may or may not -- well, they will mostly approve it if it's a string of lights, but the budgets are set by others.  We have input into those budgets in terms of what the priorities are in terms of street light maintenance, but the budget is controlled by someone else.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Finally, I would like to turn to EDA fees and MEARIE insurance premiums.


And on page 29 of the compendium, it sets out what Kitchener-Wilmot spends in EDA fees, and a note that $75,000 is projected to be paid by Kitchener-Wilmot for EDA fees in 2014; is that correct?


MS. NANNINGA:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And what are the services that these fees pay for?


MS. NANNINGA:  There's a number we -- I'm sure you're familiar with the EDA, which is kind of like a spokes-group for the industry.


They keep us up-to-date on the industry.  They send out daily news flashes and weekly news updates of the industry.  They have a number of councils.  There's a regulatory council, finance council, human resources.  There's a number of them, anyway.


And the LDCs can join those groups, and they get involved with not -- only as a group together, working within the industry, but it helps LDCs with keeping up with changes that are coming down the pipe.


Mr. Van Ooteghem, do you have anything else to add to that?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  I think one of the great values that we get through the EDA is that it -- you know, we could not participate in many of the, you know, the requests for information individually.  I mean, if there's a proceeding that's happening perhaps through the OEB or elsewhere or through the OPA in the development of new programs, for example, CDM programs, I mean, we get the collective value of benefiting from providing our input in through the EDA, which will then make its submission on behalf of its members.


If we had to do that ourselves individually, we could not afford to do that.  We don't have the staff to do it, to participate, and this is a cost-effective way for us to participate and give our views and inputs on some of these proceedings.


MR. JANIGAN:  It may be a trite question, but you agree with me that EDA represents the interests of the owners of the utilities, not the ratepayers of the utilities?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  In -- primarily, I would agree with that, although I will say that -- and my experiences is on the CDM side, which isn't directly related here, but I can tell you that when we're doing program design for conservation demand management programs, whether it's residential, commercial, or industrial, the EDA is representing the interests of the customer.  The people that are there are advocating for the customers' viewpoint on the design of these programs and ease of participation in these programs.


So directly, it's the LDCs that are members of the EDA, but my personal experience is there's a lot of LDC input with respect to customers' feedback, in terms of design of programs or submissions elsewhere.


MR. JANIGAN:  In your experience, does the EDA ever apply for an award of costs in OEB proceedings?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  They have applied.  I don't believe very often they receive approval for those costs.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Because effectively they would be looking -- that's really double-counting.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  There has been very few, and I couldn't even tell you when they've been awarded costs.


MR. JANIGAN:  I would like to look at the MEARIE insurance premiums, and they're set out on page 30 of the compendium.  And there seems to be substantial increases in the premiums.  What is the reason for that?


MS. NANNINGA:  The -- I'm not privy to all of the history of the industry, but from what I understand, with the property, that's been the biggest increases within the property insurance.  Way back in 2009 our total insured value was 81 million, although the utility was worth significantly more than that.  And from what I understand, there was some disaster, and that made it clear that the industry was way under-insured.  Mr. Van Ooteghem?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  That insurance cost relates primarily to our transformer stations, and Ms. Nanninga is correct, in that I believe it was a substation or transformer station fire in Ottawa that highlighted that many of these facilities were under-insured.


So the -- there was a study done, I guess, to update the replacement values of equipment at transformer stations, and because we own eight transformer stations, our property-insurance costs for transformer stations I think almost doubled or did double as a result of that increased value.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, as I understand it, your purchasing policy requires tendering of all contracts over $100,000, does it not?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, it does.


MR. JANIGAN:  Are any of your insurance contracts competitively tendered?


MS. NANNINGA:  No.


MR. JANIGAN:  How can you be certain that you're getting the best deal if they are not competitively tendered?


MS. NANNINGA:  We -- the MEARIE group has been insuring the industry for a number of years, and so our belief has been -- and it being a reciprocal as well, it's returning dollars back to the industry.


But our belief is that the premiums being paid are in fact specific to our industry, and, based on the claims history, it should be competitive.


MR. JANIGAN:  But you haven't made any study on this.


MS. NANNINGA:  We have not made a study on it; that's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you, panel.  Those are all my questions.  Thank you for your patience.  That concludes my cross-examination, Mr. Chair.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Janigan.


Mr. Shepherd?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


Just, can I just follow up on one thing that Mr. Janigan just asked about the EDA?  Mr. Van Ooteghem, you said that you're on the conservation council; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes, that's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that there's a lot of people there advocating for the customers?  Is that what you said?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there's customer representatives on that council?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  There's no customer representatives, but, you know, from my involvement on that committee the feedback in the redesign of programs, the improvement of programs, is filtered up from customers who have participated in the CDM programs and -- or are not participating in the CDM programs because they're awkward to apply for incentives, because their incentives are inadequate, because of processes.


So the feedback is, you know, when I'm sitting there at those meetings in those council -- and I can even say that from an industrial perspective, as being chair of that -- many of the design changes that are forthcoming are based on input from customers who have spoken to our staff at the LDC.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, and of course any good utility is going to try to design its programs to benefit its customers if it can; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Absolutely.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But everybody around the table is an LDC; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes, they are.  LDC, and the OPA, of course.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  There's no customers around the table.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Not -- there are customers at the table when there -- they do have CDM forums, where energy managers, key account managers, attend, and they're intended to be input forums, feedback forums, to the OPA and the LDCs who are managing these programs, and these forums are held a couple times a year, and those are customer representatives that attend those forums.  These individuals are not LDC people.  I mean, the LDCs are there as well, but there are many customer representatives there that are managing CDM programs for their business.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's the OPA's --


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes, OPA typically organizes those, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.  And the EDA's councils generally, do you know of an EDA council that have customer representatives on them?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Not that I'm aware of, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to -- that was just a side thing.  I just wanted to clarify that.  Let me start with this monthly billing and working capital allowance question.  I just have a few questions on this.  Mr. Aiken has covered it pretty thoroughly.


I want to start with understanding what the costs are.  There's an ongoing annual cost of 201, five, is your estimate; right?

MS. NANNINGA:  I believe it was 401, five.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  so I understood that the 200,000 was a one-time cost and the 201, five was an ongoing cost.


MS. NANNINGA:  No, I believe the original intent -- correct me if I'm wrong, Ms. Yaraskavitch.  I believe that it was -- originally we were hoping to implement it halfway through 2013, and so therefore there was 200 and 200 in '13 and '14.  It didn't happen, so therefore in -– I believe if you look at cost driver table number 3, there is 401,000 in 2014.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.


So the cost is -- let's call it $400,000 a year to do this.  You haven't included in your forecasting any benefits from this; right?  Financial benefits?


MS. NANNINGA:  I don't believe so.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Its normal when you include a new program to include both costs and benefits as they arise; right?

MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why didn't you forecast benefits?


MS. NANNINGA:  Because we don't know what they are yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know what the costs are either, but you still forecast those; right?

MS. NANNINGA:  Really, when making the decision to go to monthly billing, the smaller bills, we hope to help the customer, particularly the low-income folks.


The key driver was that the Minister of Energy was planning to mandate it.  So instead of, like I said earlier, scrambling to try and implement monthly billing in a hurry, we -- going into a cost of service year, we thought that's the time to do it.  The benefits, we don't know what they are yet, because we haven't actually implemented anything yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  But you may recall my question had nothing to do with your motivation for going to monthly billing.  We agree: good idea.


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, but I don't know what they are.  I don't know what the benefits are, outside of customer satisfaction.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand, except that my question was:  Why did you forecast the costs, which you also don't know, and not the benefits?


MS. NANNINGA:  Because the costs were reasonably easy to estimate, because it's for the most part based on postage and...


Ms. Yaraskavitch?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  The costs that we estimated are based on known costs, being our postage, so it's very easy.  You know, if you're going six months to 12 months, times two.


And then obviously our paper use, we quantify that on a monthly basis.  So we were -- again, our paper envelopes, return envelopes, we were able to fairly closely match if we went from bi-monthly to monthly billing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you done this with your entire application?  Everything that you have specific data on, like postage, you forecast, and anything else you haven't forecast?  Is that right?


MS. NANNINGA:  I'm sorry, could you repeat the question?


MR. SHEPHERD:  In your whole application -- forget monthly billing for a second -- in your whole application you have some things where you can calculate precisely what extra postage will be and you forecast those things.  Are those the only things you forecast, or have you forecast other things that you had to use judgment?


MS. NANNINGA:  We forecast based on our history and any expected incremental increases.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So none of your forecasts are judgment as to how things will change over the next year?


MS. NANNINGA:  There is always judgment applied.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Why didn't you do that with the benefits from monthly billing?


MS. NANNINGA:  Because we don't know what they are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know because you didn't forecast them; right?

MS. NANNINGA:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is true that every utility in Ontario -- tell me whether you'll accept this, subject to check -- every utility in Ontario that has calculated the impact of monthly billing has shown a benefit; right?

MS. NANNINGA:  I don't know that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have an example of a utility that has calculated the benefit of monthly billing and found that it was zero or negative?


MS. NANNINGA:  I have Mr. Aiken's package, but other than that, really, I don't have any hard data that I've looked at.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in Mr. Aiken's package, in every single case there is a net benefit; right?  All the ones you've looked at?


MS. NANNINGA:  I think so, but I haven't read the whole package yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you agree the least likely number for the benefits is zero?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, I would agree with that.  I agree that there are benefits.  We just don't necessarily know what they are yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But your forecast is that they're zero?


MS. NANNINGA:  That's true.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There may be some benefits in terms of improved collections or maybe worse collections?  You don't know; right?

MS. NANNINGA:  No, we don't.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Some utilities have forecast that collections will improve and some have actually experienced that, improved collections; right?

MS. NANNINGA:  I don't know.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You went to monthly billing and you didn't even look at what other people's experiences were?


MS. MUIR:  We haven't gone to monthly billing yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, but you've already decided to do this; right?  In fact, it was going to be at the end of the year?  You just delayed it a little bit; right?

MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you made the decision and didn't look at the experience of other people, of other utilities, at all?


MS. NANNINGA:  I did not.  Ms. Yaraskavitch?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  No, we didn't.  And as Ms. Nanninga said earlier, honestly, our main motivation was the Minister of Energy's apparent direction.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If the Ministry or the Board, for that matter, tells you that it thinks you should do something, whether directly as a direction or by way of suggestion, as you've indicated, does that mean you don't investigate the implications of it?


MS. NANNINGA:  No.  But typically if you're mandated, you're going to do it anyhow.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So do you have a plan for determining what the benefits are at some point?


MS. NANNINGA:  We can make one.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I'm not asking that.  I'm asking:  Do you have a plan?


MS. NANNINGA:  At this point, we don't.  No, we don't.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Why not?  I understand that you don't have the information now.  I get that.  Why don't you have a plan for finding it out?


MS. NANNINGA:  I guess we just haven't gotten that far yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The current plan is to go to monthly billing in Q1?


MS. NANNINGA:  We haven't actually got a date, have we, Ms. Yaraskavitch?


MS. YARASKAVITCH:  No, we haven't got a date.  What we're waiting for is really the outcome of this whole proceeding.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  You'll agree that one of the key benefits, one of the likely benefits of going to monthly billing is that your working capital requirements are reduced; is that right?


MS. NANNINGA:  I believe that they will be -- in the short-term, they will be -- we will collect -- make collections quicker.  Yes, I would agree to that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, let me just be precise here.  Your service lag will go down; right?

MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And your collections lag may also go down, but your service lag will certainly go down; right?

MS. NANNINGA:  I can't remember exactly what all those different factors mean, because I haven't done a lead-lag study.  So you'll have to remind me, sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The period of time from the time that you provide the service until you read the meter is going to go down?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, it is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You've discussed that already?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And perhaps the collections lag -- that is, the period of time from the time you bill until the time you get the money -- may also go down; right?

MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the -- you'll agree that the other utilities that have calculated that impact, like London and Horizon and et cetera, others -– there's been quite a number of them; right?  In every case, they've had a material impact, a reduction in their revenue requirement as a result; isn't that correct?


MS. NANNINGA:  I don't know that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In every one you've seen, is that true?


MS. NANNINGA:  In the ones that I've seen that were supplied by Mr. Aiken, that's true.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I wonder if you can could take a look at an exhibit, Exhibit D1, and -- including attachment 1 -- sorry, D1, tab 1, schedule 3, and attachment 1 from EB-2013-0416.  And this has been provided to the parties, and is from the Hydro One filing in December.


MS. HELT:  Mr. Shepherd, we can mark that as K1.4.  Mr. Ritchie, will you provide a copy to the Panel?
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  EXHIBIT D1, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 3, ATTACHMENT 1 FROM EB-2013-0416.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I realize you only got this today, and so I'm not going to ask detailed questions on it.


But you'll agree, will you not, that Hydro One, which has gone to monthly billing now, is estimating a 7.4 percent working capital allowance based on the first -- the summary that's on the first page; right?

MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have any reason to believe that the results of this would not be applicable to Kitchener?


MS. NANNINGA:  I would say that Hydro One is a completely different utility than Kitchener-Wilmot.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand that, and I'm not suggesting this number is right for you.  I'm not saying that at all.  I'm asking:  Do you have any reason to think that this study is in some functional way different than what the results would be for you?


MS. NANNINGA:  No, but I have no reason to say the reverse either.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All I'm doing is giving you the opportunity to say:  No, this is wrong because of X, Y or Z.

MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay?


MS. NANNINGA:  I just don't have the data either way.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Excuse me, Mr. Quesnelle, they were just handed this.  I'm not sure that Ms. Nanninga can come up with any considered view of the Hydro One study at this point.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd, you did say you wouldn't be asking detailed questions, but I think you're asking for a difference.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All I'm trying to do is give the witness an opportunity to say this study doesn't relate to us, because of this particular factor, if they know it.  If they don't know it, that's fine.  I'm not -- I don't think it's fair to ask them to do a detailed comparison.  I'm just giving them an opportunity.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I recognize that, but the opportunity, I think, the panel was looking at the opportunities presented to them, and the fact that they just received this, it's an opportunity, and I think the response is one that the Board will have to take as being -- there is no way that they can go either way on this, not knowing what's in here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  Well, and that actually leads me to my -- to really the sort of money question on this point, and that is, Kitchener has proposed a 13 percent working capital allowance calculation; right?

MS. NANNINGA:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have any evidence supporting that, other than Board policy?  Any evidence at all?


MS. NANNINGA:  Board policy, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if the policy applies to you, then you'll rely on it.  If it doesn't apply to you, then there is currently no evidence on the record, that you've provided, anyway, as to what the right number is, is there?


MS. NANNINGA:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to turn now to OM&A.  And I know you're disappointed, because you like talking about working capital allowance, but...

[Laughter]


And I have a number of questions about this, but I want to start with the -- you make -- and this is for you, Mr. Van Ooteghem.  In your opening statement you made a number of statements about where Kitchener ranks relative to other utilities.  In fact, I'm surprised that you then later said, when Mr. Janigan was cross-examining you, that you don't really compared about (sic) the utilities, you compare against yourselves, but in your opening statement you did compare yourself to other utilities in a number of different categories; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes, we do take a look at the OEB Yearbook every year, as I'm sure all LDCs do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  And I'm not saying that's bad.


So what I would like to ask you is this:  Can you provide us -- can you undertake to file the calculations or the data or the sources for each of the rankings that you provided in your opening statement?  One of them, for example, was eighth in 2014, and I didn't understand how you could even know what 2014 was, but -- and another one was second in rates.  And there were various.


And so can you just go through -- I know you have the information in your opening statement.  Can you just provide us with an undertaking to give us those tables showing your ranking for each one of those rankings that you claimed?  Can you do that?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  I can do that.  It's publicly available on the OEB website.  That's where I retrieved the information from.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the rate calculation certainly isn't in the -- you compared yourself on residential rates, and clearly that's not in the triple-Rs; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  It's not, but there is an OEB rate calculator --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  -- available on the OEB website, and that's what we used.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I would just like you to give us the table for each of those.  I think there were six or seven of them, that you made a comparison.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Are you asking, Mr. Shepherd, for the Pacific Economic Group reports?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, because you said things like we have the lowest residential rates, let's say.  I don't know whether it was lowest or second-lowest.  I don't remember.  And so presumably you have a table that shows rates and your number too, right, number one.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes, for the residential rates, yes, I think I said we were fourteenth, and I do have a table where we documented those using the OEB's rate calculator.  We went in there.  We put in 800 kilowatt hours, and we punched out the numbers, and Ms. Yaraskavitch gave me a table.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Perfect.  So --


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  I can provide that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So just, for each of those rankings, give us the table.  And if the table is not your table, if it's an external source, and you just went to the source, and there already is a table there, like the PEG report, for example, then just provide the source.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yeah.  The only table was the one for the residential rates.  The rest were all Pacific Economic reports or OEB reports that I pulled the information out of.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So can you give us the source for each one?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And the reason why I'm --


MS. HELT:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd.  That will be Undertaking J1.5.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  to PROVIDE THE TABLE AND SOURCE FOR EACH RANKING

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason why I'm asking that is because I did look at the Board's rankings for stretch factors for 2014.  You've seen those; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're in group 2.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?  The number of utilities in group 1 and group 2, the two top-performing groups, will you accept subject to check that that's 21, are in those two; right?  It's the same one.  You're off now.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Sorry.  Am I on?  Great.  Yes, the 2014 report, our ranking that is from the report of the Pacific Economics Group dated November 2013, the final report to the Ontario Energy Board, table 17.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  And it says our ranking is eighth, and our actual costs are 22 percent less than predicted costs.  So that's the Economic -- the Pacific Economic report.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is the updated -- their update corrected for a bunch of --


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  I believe it is, yes, because I had to change it, and then when I went into the stretch factor report, which has changed, we are in group 2, with a stretch factor of 0.15 percent.  And there are six in group 1, and we're in group 2.  So I assume we're at the top in
-- of group 2.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that analysis is based on 2012 numbers; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  I believe that to be correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And your costs have actually increased since 2012; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes, but for sure they've -- well, the last reported numbers are for 2012, as per the OEB Yearbook, so those are the ones I would assume are being used.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's reasonable to assume that your ranking may be -- how do I phrase this?  Your ranking may be less favourable if you get the increases in costs that you're requesting in this proceeding.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  I don't -- I wouldn't say that to be true.  I mean, there were significant cost increases from 2011 to 2012 as well, because we had moved to modified GAAP, and others did not move to modified GAAP.  And, you know, when I was looking at being the third most efficient, there were only three under $200 per customer, and so I would not jump to that conclusion, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, now, let me ask about that. and Mr. Aiken has asked you -- has pursued a little bit your customer-number information.  And if you -- probably the easiest way to do this is to look at page 71 of Mr. Aiken's compendium.  And on page 71, on line 51 there's customer numbers.  Do you see that?  And Mr. Aiken asked you about those numbers.  And I've tried to find the source of those numbers from some external number, because certainly these numbers are not the same as the numbers, for example, used in the PEG report, and they're not the same as the numbers in your triple-Rs, so what am I missing here?


MS. MUIR:  These numbers are averages.  They're -- the customer numbers are averages, whereas I believe in the PEG report you used your year-end number, whereas these are averages of your opening and closing balances --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, that can't be right, because these are higher than the PEG report numbers by about 2,000 a year.  You're not even growing at 2,000 a year, so it's hard to imagine that that would be correct.


MS. NANNINGA:  We'll have to undertake to look that up for you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Here's why I ask this.  My experience is most other utilities use their triple-R numbers to calculate their cost per customer of whatever the cost per customer is.  And those triple-R numbers, excluding the USLs and the street lighting, which are connections, just the customer component of it -- and your triple-R numbers are a couple thousand lower in every year.  So that would increase your OM&A per customer, wouldn't it?  If it were correct?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  I can't say whether the information reported or in the OEB Yearbook is different for different LDCs.  I'm assuming going in that reporting requirements are clear and that we're all reporting the information the same way.  So if there's differences, then I would not be aware of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I wasn't asking about that.  Obviously, I --


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  I mean, I've calculated based on the yearbook only.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, but none of these numbers are from the yearbook.  That's why I'm asking.


MS. NANNINGA:  I would have to look to see where those numbers came from, Mr. Shepherd.  I --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I wonder if you could undertake to provide that.


MS. NANNINGA:  I can.


MS. HELT:  Undertaking J1.6, to provide the source of information for the customer numbers that are found on the table on page 71 of 71 of the Energy Probe compendium Exhibit K1.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  to PROVIDE the SOURCE FOR CUSTOMER NUMBERS FOUND ON THE TABLE ON PAGE 71 OF 71 OF THE ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM, EXHIBIT K1.2


MR. SHEPHERD:  If I can clarify, these are the company's numbers from table 4-6 in its original filing.


MS. NANNINGA:  I know that we typically include the numbers of street lighting customers and we exclude an embedded distributor, but I really have to look at them to be able to confirm exactly what that number is comprised of.


MR. SHEPHERD:  These clearly don't include street lighting.  It should be 107 in street lighting.


MS. NANNINGA:  Usually it's six.  We have, like, six customers.  So I would have to look at them.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you've provided evidence as to your OM&A per customer; right?

MS. NANNINGA:  I'm sorry?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You provided evidence on your OM&A per customer?  In fact, the numbers here -- the 178.91, for example, is a number that you've -- that you repeated again, Mr. Van Ooteghem, in your direct -- in your opening statement; right?

MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder if you could recalculate your OM&A per customer numbers based on the numbers of customers in the triple-Rs that you have filed?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, we can do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.7.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7:  to RECALCULATE OM&A PER CUSTOMER BASED ON NUMBERS OF CUSTOMERS IN TRIPLE-RS FILED.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, one of the things that you said in your opening statement, Mr. Van Ooteghem, was that -- I'm not mispronouncing your name, am I, by the way?  Am I close?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  That's as close as anyone has ever said it.


[Laughter]


MR. SHEPHERD:  You said in your opening statement that one of the problems with looking at your comparative data from the past is that you had some volatility in OM&A in past years.  2009 and '10, you had a whole bunch of resources diverted and smart meters, and then 2011 there was -- was that a storm?   I don't remember, but there were a bunch of reasons why those years were not particularly business as usual; fair?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true, isn't it, that 2008 was pretty business as usual?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  You're stretching my memory.  I can't recall if there's anything unusual or not.


MS. NANNINGA:  Were we building a transformer station in 2008?  No?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  It's usually a three-year cycle for us.  I mean -– well, four years from start to finish, but our labour starts to enter into it in year 2, 3 and 4 to build a station usually, so -- but I don't know how much of that would have been diverted.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I looked at 2008 and it looked like a relatively regular progression from prior years.  Will you accept, subject to check, that it's a relatively business as usual year?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  I will definitely have to check that, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Please.  And you're forecasting 2014 on the basis that it's a business as usual-type year; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If 2008 is a good base -- and if it's not, if you could tell us -- if you check and you find that 2008 is not good, can you go back to a year that is a good year to work as a base?  What I see is that from 2008 to 2014, six years, you have proposed -- and I'm using now the old CGAAP numbers, not adjusted for new CGAAP yet, because obviously that's a separate issue.  You have a 30.5 percent increase over those six years in OM&A from 12,629,136 to 16,788,423.  And that's 4.6 per year compounded, which seems high.


So then do you have any reason to believe those numbers are wrong?  Does that sound about right to you?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Subject to check, if you've looked at the numbers, I'm –- those seem like the right numbers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sure you'll check the transcript.  That's why I read in the numbers, so that you can take a look at this.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it looks like on a per-customer basis, it's about a 22-and-a-half percent increase over that same period.  And again, I'm going to actually ask you to do that calculation.  From 2008 to 2014, what's the increase, total percentage increase in OM&A per customer?  That would be on an apples-to-apples basis.  Could you do that?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  So that would be on an old GAAP basis, then, we're trying to calculate that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  So the 2014 number would be 178,91, which is your old GAAP number, and then all you need to do is give us the 2008 number and the rest is math; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  We will undertake that.


MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.8.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.8:  to PROVIDE TOTAL percentAGE INCREASE IN OM&A PER CUSTOMER FROM 2008 TO 2014.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If my calculations are correct, what that means is that your increase in OM&A per customer has been -- has averaged about 3-and-a-half percent per year.  And normally in a high-growth utility, your increase in OM&A per customer is actually lower than inflation, OM&A inflation, because the incremental cost of growth isn't 100 percent; right?  True?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  I guess the comment I would make is that I wouldn't classify us as a high-growth utility.  I mean, when we're looking GTA area, those are high-growth utilities.  For us it's been steady growth, but it's not high growth by any factor.


But there are a couple of unique cost pressures to us as well, just because of our distribution system, as already mentioned.  And I think for us, maintaining our equipment in good condition means that we can use the asset for longer periods of time and avoid replacing it as early as it would have if we didn't maintain it.


So it's important to us.  Our maintenance programs are critical to controlling our future costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're getting to the thrust of what I wanted to ask about, which is:  Do you have some particular reason why your OM&A would be going up at 3-and-a-half percent, your OM&A per customer would be going up at 3-and-a-half percent per year, substantially in excess of inflation, over an extended period of time?  Do you have any particular reason why that would be, other than increased maintenance?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  You know, I think wages in our industry are higher than inflation, you know.  That makes up a significant part of the cost of our OM&A cost.  I think 3-and-a-half percent per year for growing and expanding a utility and distribution system should also -- you know, I mean, we'll take a look at number of customers going back six years as well, but I think it's not out of line for -- we are an infrastructure and asset company, and maintaining those assets is critical.


And there are -- there are new costs that have been -- that have come our way over the last six years, new costs that we didn't have before.  That adds to that cost pressure.

So it's not a static -- it's not a static world from 2008.  There has been many new initiatives, some that we've initiated, some that have been imposed on us from outside that have driven up costs or added costs, I guess, to our OM&A.


So I think it's a combination of both, and 3-and-a-half percent, you know, I think looks pretty good compared to the cost of power increases that we've seen over the last five years, which I just recently looked at as well, and is in excess of 40 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could turn to Mr. Janigan's compendium, K1.3, and look at page 23.  And you had this discussion with Mr. Janigan about your increase from 173 complement to 177, and where were the collections people, et cetera.  And I was looking at this, and I actually saw something else which I wondered about, and this is about sort of your strategic direction.  My question is not actually about the numbers, although the numbers help us to understand it.


From 2009 to 2014 your complement has only gone up three people, which seems pretty good.  But this appears to say that you've actually added about, what, six people.  No, yeah, no, sorry, about -- you've added five people in the non-tool-and-hand positions, so you've added in finance and executive and that category, and you've added in customer service, and you've added in IT, but you've reduced in operations and maintenance by four people.  That seems like the wrong direction.  And so I wonder if you can talk about what that means, in terms of your priorities?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Operations and maintenance, you know, is a broad category.  In some cases through retirements we have eliminated some jobs that, you know, really weren't providing -- you know, didn't make sense for us to do any more ourselves, and outsourced it to a third party, that maybe we could get some of the work done at a lower cost.  In some cases jobs have changed over that period of time.


And when we say operations and maintenance, I mean, there's -- I can think in our control room we had -- at one point in time we had two supervisors in that control room.  One of them was also responsible for some supervision of our service trucks.


We changed that role to provide the supervision through one of our foremen in the line department or, you know, the outside crews, and, you know, did not replace that second supervisor position in the control room, at least not at this point in time.


So when you look at numbers it's not just field positions.  It's also supervisory positions within those business units or those areas.  So I think the fact that they're reduced doesn't mean we have less hands available, necessarily.  It means some of the -- you know, we've been able to consolidate some positions in some cases and achieve some savings.


There is pressure on our office group for sure in regulatory -- there is more effort now than there was before.  In engineering our capital-budget programs have, you know, have increased as part of our asset management plan.  We need resources to, you know, to design those projects for our field forces.  So there's a lot of factors at play here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, engineering didn't go up, though; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Engineering is -- was down in 2011, and then went back up one in 2012; right?  So --


MR. SHEPHERD:  But (microphone not activated).


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yeah.  So, I mean, these aren't big changes from year to year.  In terms of strategically, we look for efficiencies in all areas of our business.  It's not just, you know, field crews or field staff.  It's also in the office group as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and that's sort of what I'm asking about, because, you know, so often information-technology advances produce savings in back office first, because it's the easiest way to get efficiencies; right?  You can get them in the field too, I get that, but you also very often get savings from information technology, and I see the sorts of examples you're giving in the back office; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  You can.  What it often does, though, is, rather than reduce your complement of back-office staff, it allows you to continue to use your existing resources to do more.  You know, that's the efficiency gauge you have.


So it isn't always about reducing staff levels, necessarily.  It's about managing a greater workload with the same number of staff.


MR. SHEPHERD:  See, my concern here is not so much that your O&M complement goes down, because I agree with you that, you know, if an efficiently run operation -- and you were already pretty lean; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But an efficiently-run operation can sometimes get more out of it.  I get that.  But what I'm concerned with is that you have -- of the non-operational people, the 50 or so that you had, you're increasing that by seven which does seem like a lot over six years.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  In this table I should mention to you that there's two full-time CDM positions in those --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yeah --


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  -- numbers; right?  So, you know, they're excluded from our revenue requirement, but they are bodies, right, that we pay.  So there are two there.


But I can tell you, customer communications, for example, is huge.  With the storms we had in 2013, you know, our staff did a remarkable job restoring power, but there was one area that we were criticized in, and we were criticized in repeatedly, in that we were not providing customers with timely information on the status of our restoration efforts, and to do that, you know, when you have 30,000 customers out in an ice storm, is really difficult to do manually.  And so technology will help with that, but we need a person that can communicate with our customers not only during storm situations -- I mean, that's an obvious example -- but throughout the rest of the year, in terms of, you know, the impact of, you know, some of these electricity cost increases that are coming through, and what part we play in it.  So communications, it's a driven need from our customers.

HR, frankly, was something that was long overdue.  To be a utility of 175 people and have no one person managing human resources, you know, having it split amongst all of the senior staff and managers was, you know, was overdue, far overdue, for a staff of 175 people, and hence we were having difficulty, you know, doing timely replacements of staff when they retired or they left.  It took us time sometimes to do that, because we had to fit it in amongst the rest of our jobs.


So the positions we've added aren't overhead, you know, as I would classify it.  I think they're driven by need, either need by our customers, need to provide better information to our field staff and our customers, enable us to do more with the same level of staff.  And that's the philosophy that we're using with, you know, using technology.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They are overhead; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Pardon?


MR. SHEPHERD:  They are overhead.  HR is overhead.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Oh, they are, in the strict sense of the word, yes, of course, they are admin; right?  And so, yeah, they show up there.  I'm not questioning you there.  But I'm just saying they're not surplus to our needs.  They provide critical functions to our company.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  Understood.


You just talked about communications, and I actually had an area of questions about that which I can probably shorten.  You have a strategic communications plan; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  We are in -- we've contracted someone to help us develop that strategic communications plan, so it's in the works now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought you had an interrogatory response which said you had one.  1 Staff 6?  You've included spending for this plan and --


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Oh, yeah, for -- we've contracted, we've paid somebody to do work on this for us.  We have a draft of the plan.  It's not final yet.  We hope to finalize it this month sometime.


But it will outline our strategy to go forward.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And there's a budget for it; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you already have the budget?  It's already built into your application; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have that budget somewhere?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  I don't think we identified it, because it wasn't a big cost driver.  It was -- I think it was under $10,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, really?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yeah.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, not for the study.  I'm talking about the --


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Oh, for the communications person?


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- incremental costs associated with improving your communications.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  The communications person?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the person and whatever other resources.  You can't just have a person; right?  You have to have resources associated with that person?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes.  That's built into our ask here, our budget.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's a few hundred thousand dollars, isn't it?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  A few hundred?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  No.  We're not setting up a department.  We're hiring one person to do communications on behalf of Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro, to get us a social media presence, to update our websites, to do, you know, customer engagement forums or whatever we need to do.


So it's not a few hundred thousand.  It's under 100,000.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  One of the things that struck me is that -- and you just said it again, that your customers are asking questions about rising energy bills and you have to respond to that; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That could be taken the wrong way, so I'm going to give you an opportunity to clarify it.


You're not proposing to spend more money so you can sell your rate increases; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  No.  As I mentioned to you, you know, about the storm, we get -- we have external pressures from our customer.  I can tell you some visited me personally, to tell me what we need to do to improve communications.  So I can vouch this is real.  There is one that wouldn't leave the office until she had an opportunity to visit me, and we had a very good discussion about that.  And so it's real, and I honestly feel we need to do better.

I mean, that is some of our -- of the two or three new initiatives that we plan, at least two those are tied into providing better information for our customers, you know, about our distribution system, about the electricity bill, you know, to what's the rising cost pressures, provide better website information.

Our website is quite dated; it's not updated regularly.  Provide a social media presence, which I -- I'm truly surprised how quickly that customer request has come forward and how important it is to them to be there, to have that presence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you've used the ice storm as an example, but you're not the only utility that's been criticized for not enough information during the ice storm, which was the worst we've ever had; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  I'm glad to hear that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Everybody has been criticized; right?  And probably unfairly.


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  And I would say I need to caution that we had many more favourable responses than unfavourable, of course.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is what I was going to get at, is your strategic communications plan and your being more proactive is -- that arose prior to the ice storm.  It isn't a reaction to the ice storm; you had this in place -- a year ago you started thinking about this; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yeah, we started thinking about it and then we put together an RFP and awarded it.  So yeah, we've been working on it for a bit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And that is -- it's a small number, but I'm only talking about that because it's an example of something that I think I want to get at here, and that is you have this 30-odd percent increase in OM&A from 2008 to 2014.  Some part of that is because you weren't spending enough on some things; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Sure.  There are some new initiatives and programs that we weren't doing that we need to -- that we are now proposing to do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  For example, you had every bit as much reason to have an HR person in 2008 as today, but you didn't get to it yet?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Get to it, or you try and make it work as long as you can before you need to incur that position.  So I mean, it wasn't as if the function wasn't being performed, but it was performed inadequately, I would say.  And so that's why we now have an HR person.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have a sense of how much of that increase over that period -- I'm just focusing on that period because it's the only one that I think is even remotely reliable as a percentage.  Do you have a sense of how much of that is catching up to where you need to be, as opposed to responding to growth or new external factors or things like that?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  I've never really thought about that.  It would be difficult to quantify, but you're absolutely right.  There's components of both in this application.  There's areas of catch-up, and there's growth-related -- growth-related cost pressures for sure.

And yeah, for sure IT is one of those.  So we definitely needed to catch up on IT, and we have more work do as well.


So I don't know what percentage of that dollar amount would relate to one to the other.  I'd have to give that some thought.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here's where I'm going with this.  You're a relatively low-cost utility, regardless of all the various numbers you use and stuff like that.  No matter how you measure it, you're a relatively low-cost utility; right?  And you're not proposing to stop being a low-cost utility?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But there is pressure -- tell me whether this is correct -- pressure for you to move to the sort of levels of other utilities, move up to the level of other utilities because some things aren't being done the way other utilities do it; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  No.  I would say, Mr. Shepherd, that more of the pressures that we're feeling are external cost increases that are much, much higher than what we can manage, you know, ourselves.  So a lot of -- it's new, it's new requests, new...


I'll take Ontario One Call, for example.  It's a very good program, I'm sure, from a customer perspective, but it's a cost driver for us.  It's not -- it doesn't lower our costs in any way whatsoever, because we still need to -- you know, to have somebody to dispatch locators to go out there and do them.  In fact -- and it's not surprising -- we're receiving more locates now than we did before, because some -– because we were on our own, I'm sure some didn't call us directly.  Now as part of Ontario One Call, we're getting additional requests.


So that's a mandated requirement, absolutely -- you know, I think it's a benefit to the customer to call one number.  But we've had to build a data interface now with the Ontario One Call centre to receive the data, because we don't want to be calling over for 20,000 locates a year.  So we've built the software interface to import it into our locate sheets, so the dispatcher can then issue it.  And more locates on top of that, which for now we're managing through some additional overtime costs because I don't want to go to the next step of hiring one more body to do 2- or 3,000 more locates, for example.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is an example where the quality of service you're giving to your customers is in effect going up as a result of Ontario One Call, and that creates cost pressures.  And there's others like that; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  I -- for sure that's one example, and there are several others like that that I can think of over the years.


Quality of service, I'm not sure.  I guess it's convenience for the customer to call one number.  I firmly believe the quality of service was actually better before, because when a customer called us we would keep them on the phone.  We would book a time and date for their locate, and when they hung up they knew when we were going to be there.


Now that doesn't happen with Ontario One Call.  They just have to call in, that information gets ported over to us electronically.  Then we have to schedule that, and so there's delays in that system now.


So I think the quality of service, personally, was better before, but for convenience, yes, it's better.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Mr. Chairman, I have about five more minutes.  Do you want me to continue to the break?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, please.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I have just two other areas of questions, which are very short.  You were asked in interrogatories whether you had any ongoing discussions with respect to mergers, and you said, no, you don't; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that led us to think about -- you have utilities around you, Cambridge and Guelph and Waterloo, et cetera, that have some common issues with you; right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I assume that you have some common activities with them, where you save money?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Absolutely.  We have a list of two pages where we do things together, and --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that in the evidence somewhere?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  I mean, they're just hand notes that we made up at one point in time.  So what we try and do is, especially in the case of new initiatives, where it's new to all of us, you know, we do discuss, is there an opportunity to work together on this, you know, on this new initiative, and I'll take smart meters, for example, as one of the most prominent ones.  When we needed to move forward with smart metering, we chose the same vendor for our smart-meter system, the same installation contractor, and we're sharing infrastructure, you know, to read those meters, so redundancy, for example, you know, we can reduce what we require for redundancy for some of the meter-reading equipment.


We achieve some significant savings by using a single vendor for, you know, 200,000 customers, as opposed to one vendor for me for 90,000 customers, for example.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So in the various projects that you've talked about in your opening statement and in some of your cross-examination, for example, disaster recovery, outage management, and stuff like that, are you working on those things with the other utilities around you?


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Disaster recovery was something we haven't done at this point in time.  We've talked a bit about it with some other utilities, more on the SKADA side, the distribution management system, that if we needed backup, could Waterloo and us, for example, back each other up in an emergency situation.


I mean, we are still fairly geographically close together.  So for disaster recovery, you know, there's a good chance that more than one of us could be affected by something like that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I was asking more whether you have a common disaster recovery system so that -- because, for example, a reason, if you're out, probably Waterloo is --


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yeah.  Yeah.  Yeah.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- out too, and so --


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Is there one place to assemble, basically, right, to get back up and running.  We haven't done a lot of that yet, Mr. Shepherd, but I think there's an interest locally to look at those opportunities, and, you know, I think that will be something that, you know, we're going to be looking at more, not just with, you know, the local ones, necessarily, but I'm not sure if you also heard about Smart City or not, but that's a larger group of ten utilities, you know, all very similar-sized utilities as well, and there's opportunities within that group that we're also pursuing to see if we can achieve some economies, you know, in our purchasing or whatever else we might decide to pursue.


So it is a -- it's a trend, I would say, that we're looking to to try and achieve some back-office savings.  And when we get to the point, you know, where we're looking at something like a CIS system, I mean, we're going to be looking very seriously at, you know, some other opportunities there as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't have a common control room with --


MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  We don't, we don't, but only because we've had one for 60 years, you know, and so has Waterloo, right, has had one for 50 years; right?  So, you know, some of this is legacy, of course, that's carried on, but I think there is an interest to look at these more so, and not just from my perspective personally, but from our boards as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so -- thank you for mentioning your board.  It's a segue.


Ms. Nanninga, you said earlier that one thing that's happened on your budget side since the application and since we last talked, I guess, is that you've now filed your 2014 budget with your board of directors in December; right?

MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that -- the budget that went to the board of directors, is it on the record now?


MS. NANNINGA:  No, it's not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we have it?


MS. NANNINGA:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we have it filed, please?


MS. NANNINGA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.


MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.9:  TO PROVIDE THE BUDGET THAT WENT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MR. SHEPHERD:  And just on the budget, if I can find my question, you talked with Mr. Janigan, I think, about top down versus bottom up, and you -- and the envelope approach, and your budget is largely a bottom-up budget; right?

MS. NANNINGA:  Yes, it is.  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When you start the budget process, is there a top-down memo of some sort or communication from the shareholder, from the board, the directors, or from management that says, Lookit, here's the envelope we want to stay within, or, Here's the targets that we want to live within?


MS. NANNINGA:  No, the way that it's done is accounting -- the accounting manager will send out the budgets to the managers and seniors managers.  They are -- basically, they put in their dollars for their controllables, correct?  For their controllable costs.  So things that are not controllable to the manager, like payroll benefits, OMERS, all those types of things, CPP, EI, those are budgeted by accounting, but they are ultimately allocated out to each of the departments.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  And it's a typical bottom-up approach. I get that.


MS. NANNINGA:  Yeah.  So basically what happens is, is once they get their budgets together, they then have to pass them by Mr. Van Ooteghem and get his approval on any changes to their budget.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  The question I'm trying to get to is that, you know that there's a trend now in the industry for a top-down sort of limit or target being placed on budgets before the budget process.  You have not implemented anything like that.


MS. NANNINGA:  We haven't implemented it yet.  I can tell you that our budgeting process is probably going to be looked at following this process.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  I have no further questions, Mr. Chairman.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


Ms. Helt, I'm just going to do a time check here.  How much time would you have?


MS. HELT:  Zero.  Board Staff has no questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Makes it easy to budget.


Mr. Sidlofsky, obviously you'll have -- or might not say "obviously".  Do you have any redirect?  And what I'm getting to -- and I'll ask you to contemplate this while you're thinking of your answer and that.  We had asked you to be prepared for an argument-in-chief, and I will note if you haven't already there's a fair amount of undertakings that have been asked for, and in fairness to you we would certainly be prepared to allow you to have overnight on -- to contemplate your argument-in-chief, given the number of undertakings, as to whether or not that's going to alter, what-have-you.


I was hoping to give you more time, a natural break today, if we were going to ask for argument-in-chief orally today, and the Board would be prepared to sit tomorrow morning for that argument-in-chief if you're prepared to -- if you would like to take advantage of that.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I wonder if -- I really just had one question for redirect, and I wonder if I could just think about your question or your offer while I ask that, and it will be directed to Mr. Van Ooteghem.  And perhaps I'll get that out of the way, and then I'll answer your question about timing for argument-in-chief.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Fair enough.

Re-Examination by Mr. Sidlofsky:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Van Ooteghem, could I just take you to table 4-13, which was at page -- sorry, page 23 of Mr. Janigan's compendium.


I'll just wait until we have that up on the screen.

I think you can see that on the screen in front of you now, Mr. Van Ooteghem.  I just want to -- hopefully we can clarify something here.


In your examination-in-chief, you mentioned three new positions, and that was the HR position, a CDM -- excuse me.  Sorry, not CDM.  A human resources person, an IT projects manager and a communications specialist.  And you got a number of questions from my friends about headcount and staffing.  I just want to make sure that I'm clear here and maybe that the Board is clear here as well.


The human resources position that you mentioned in your examination-in-chief, is that the position that was filled in 2012?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes.  It was filled about midway through 2012.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  And the communications specialist and the IT projects manager, those are planned positions for 2014; is that correct?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  Yes, that's correct.  The projects manager position for IT is being advertised now, and the communications position is something we'll be doing within the next week or two.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thank you.  So is it correct -- and I believe it's correct because it's in the table here -- the change from 2013 to 2014 in terms of headcount is two FTEs?  Is that right?

MR. VAN OOTEGHEM:  That's correct, yeah.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  Those are my questions for redirect.  I just wanted to make sure that we were clear on that.


I wonder go we could take a short break and I can speak with the Kitchener-Wilmot people about how long it might take to respond to those undertakings.  That might give me a better sense of how helpful I can be to the Board in terms of when I give my argument-in-chief.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Why don't we take a 15-minute break?  We'll return at 3:30.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  All right.  Thank you, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 3:15 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:34 p.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Sidlofsky?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.  I've discussed the argument-in-chief with Kitchener-Wilmot.  And I'll be going ahead now.  It's a very brief set of comments.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  And just before you start, an expectation of the undertaking responses, and we can talk about that perhaps -- we'll get into the scheduling of subsequent --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I expect -- I'm going to say by early next week.  I know that there's also a priority for the first undertaking, which was -- which related to the settlement proposal, and the question that you had about the delta between the capital budget amounts and the threshold that would be calculated under the Board's requirements.  And I know that Kitchener-Wilmot staff will be working on that one first to get that in to the Board to allow you to deal with the settlement proposal.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We will do that.  We will take your argument-in-chief today.  The settlement proposal has not been accepted.  We'll do that in writing.  The Board will issue something as soon as we receive the undertaking and review it, and then we will issue our decision on the partial.  So obviously provide your argument-in-chief with the understanding that it's safe to do so, I think.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That was my assumption, sir.  And what I would ask, though, if the Panel would be willing, is if there are any other questions that arise on the settlement proposal that we have an opportunity to respond to them, and I expect that the intervenors will want to as well, because that's a proposal from all of the parties.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It would only be if something came in that was of surprise in this undertaking response.  I think everything else is satisfactory to the Board.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And just to be clear, sir, I wasn't planning on mentioning the settlement agreement, at least the acceptance of the settlement agreement, in my argument-in-chief.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  Thank you.


Closing Argument by Mr. Sidlofsky:

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, as I mentioned in my opening comments, Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro owns and operates the electricity distribution system in the city of Kitchener and the township of Wilmot, and KWHI serves over 89,000 customers.  In August of last year KWHI updated its cost-of-service application to include adjustments for Account 1576, and that application is -- the application before the Board is for electricity distribution rates effective January 1st of this year, 2014.


And at the time of the application KWHI sought approval to charge rates effective January 1st to recover a service revenue requirement of $39,453,868.  After revenue offsets the base revenue requirement was 37,414,000 -- excuse me, $37,414,668.  As filed, the application indicated a revenue sufficiency of approximately $79,000.


The evidence in this proceeding consists of the application, KWHI's responses to interrogatories and technical conference questions and undertakings given during the technical conference, and the appendices to the settlement agreement filed on December 3rd.


As Mr. Van Ooteghem mentioned in his evidence-in-chief, KWHI may have run alternative scenarios for the purpose of responding to interrogatories or technical conference questions, but KW Hydro does not necessarily support those alternative approaches.


As the Board's aware, the settlement conference concluded with a comprehensive partial settlement.  I'm not going to revisit the settlement agreement in my comments, but I will draw the Board's attention to appendix D to the agreement.  That appendix is a revenue-requirement work form, incorporating all of the changes agreed to in the settlement agreement.  As noted in the agreement, the assumptions in that document of OM&A expenses as requested in the application, subject only to an inflation-related reduction of approximately $42,000, and the use of the percentage factor of 13 percent in the calculation of the working capital allowance, both of those haven't been as requested by KWHI, are not intended by any of the parties to be indicative of the appropriateness of that OM&A amount or any of its components or impacts.  Those are simply intended to be placeholders pending the Board's determination on those issues.


Customer bill impacts on that basis, though, represent a decrease of 1.8 percent for a residential customer and 800 kilowatt hours of electricity per month, and an increase of 0.39 percent for a GS-under-50 kilowatt customer consuming 2,000 kilowatt hours of electricity per month, inclusive of rate riders.


KWHI submits that even at that level of OM&A and with the percentage factor used for the preparation of appendix D, the impacts resulting from this application are minimal and reasonable.


The parties agreed, as I mentioned earlier, that the effective date of the rates arising out of the proposed agreement and the Board's decision on OM&A and the appropriate working capital allowance percentage factor should be January 1st of 2014, and once the Board has issued its decision, KWHI will calculate a rate rider for the remainder of the test year that will enable it to recover or refund the difference between the Board-approved revenue requirement and its revenue at existing rates for any months in 2014 in which its new rates are not in effect.


And moving on to the outstanding issues as they're set out in the settlement agreement, there are two, although, as the Board will be aware, certain other calculations may be affected as a consequence of the Board's determination of those issues.


First, issue 2.2:  Is the working capital allowance for the test year appropriate?  And second, issue 4.1:  Is the overall OM&A forecast for the test year appropriate?


As a general comment, KW Hydro submits that both of these questions should be answered in the affirmative.  KWHI has some more particular comments at this time as well, and intends to reply to any Board Staff and intervenor submissions.


First, on issue 2.2:  Is the working capital allowance for the test year appropriate?  At the time of KWHI's last cost-of-service application for 2010 rates, the Board's default percentage factor for use in the calculation of the working capital allowance for distribution rate-making purposes was 15 percent.


At pages 26 and 27 of its decision in that application, the Board noted that KWHI had proposed to conduct a lead-lag study, and that it would be appropriate to do so, as KW Hydro would have implemented smart meters and time-of-use billing by that time.


The Board went on to note -- and I quote -- that:
"The appropriateness of the level of working capital is also being raised in other applications, and that the Board may initiate a generic proceeding/consultation on determining a new working capital methodology in advance of KW Hydro's next cost-of-service filing.  In such case the Board expects that KW Hydro will participate in such a process and will take into account the outcomes of such a process.  The Board expects that KW Hydro will support its cash working capital allowance in its next rebasing application based on the outcomes of this Board-led process or based on the lead-lag study that KW Hydro said it would individually undertake."


The Board did not direct KW Hydro to file a lead-lag study as part of its next application.


On April 12th, 2012 the Board issued a letter updating the options for the calculation of the working capital allowance for the 2013 rate year.  At that time, section 2.5.1.4 of the Board's filing requirements for cost-of-service distribution rate applications provided that 2012 would be the final year for which the 15 percent default allowance approach would be used for the calculation of the working capital allowance.


The Board advised in that letter that it would not require distributors to file lead-lag studies for 2013 rates unless they are required to do so as a result of a previous Board decision.


However, the Board went on to advise that it had reviewed the results of lead-lag studies filed by distributors in cost-of-service applications, and in each of those cases both the applied-for WCA and the final Board-approved WCA have been lower than 15 percent.


The Board determined that it is not appropriate for default value for WCA to be set at a higher level than those resulting from lead-lag studies.


Based on the results of the working capital allowance studies filed with the Board in the past few years, the Board has determined -- the Board -- excuse me, in that letter the Board determined that the default value going forward will be 13 percent of the sum of cost of power and controllable expenses.


The Board advised that this default value will be applicable to 2013 rate applications and beyond.  Distributors still have the option of completing and filing a lead-lag study as part of a cost of service rate application for determination by the Board.  By that letter, the Board amended section 2.5.1.4 of the filing requirements to replace the 15 percent allowance approach with the 13 percent allowance approach.  Distributors would have the option of using the 13 percent option approach or filing a lead-lag study.


The amended section provides for only one exception to these two alternatives; that is, if the applicant has been previously directed by the Board to undertake a lead-lag study on which its current working capital allowance is based.  The section provides that under such circumstances, the applicant must either continue to use the results of that study, or in the event it wishes to propose a revision to its allowance, the applicant must file an updated study in support of its proposal.


At Exhibit 2, tab 5, schedule 1 of its application, KW Hydro discusses its calculation of the working capital allowance.  Because it had not conducted a lead-lag study, nor did the Board direct it to do so, KW Hydro determined that it should use the Board's default value of 13 percent in its application.


And the Board heard evidence from Ms. Nanninga earlier today about KWHI's understanding of the Board's letter of April 12th, 2012.


This approach is consistent with the Board's decision in KW Hydro's 2010 cost-of-service application.  With the Board's letter of April 12th, 2012, with the Board's filing requirements for cost-of-service applications, and with decisions of the Board issued in May of last year in its decision on the Centre Wellington Hydro cost-of-service application, and as recently as a couple of weeks ago on the decision of Cooperative Hydro Embrun.


In response to intervenor arguments in both of those cases for lower percentage factors, the Board confirmed that the use of 13 percent is consistent with Board policy.  This was the case even where both of those utilities had moved to monthly billing.  The Board noted in both cases that it finds no compelling reason to depart from the policy at this time.  The Board also noted that it is reluctant to adopt the results of a lead-lag study from one utility to another without a thorough analysis of the circumstances for each utility.


In both of those cases, the intervenor requesting the reduction pointed to a lead-lag study of another utility that was on monthly billing, in which the study resulted in a lower percentage factor.


In the absence of a KW Hydro-specific lead-lag study, KWHI respectfully requests that the Board approve its use of the default percentage factor of 13 percent for KWHI's calculation of its working capital allowance.


Moving to issue 4.1, Is the overall OM&A forecast for the test year appropriate?

As the parties discuss in the settlement proposal, KW Hydro's forecasted OM&A for 2014 is $18,875,560, which has been adjusted downward by $42,440 during the interrogatory process to reflect the Board's updated IRM-related inflation factor of 1.6 percent for IRM rate applications with rates effective May 1, 2013.  This represented a decrease from the 2 percent used in the original application.


The OM&A forecast thus revised has not been agreed on by the parties, and is to be determined by the Board after this hearing.


KW Hydro's OM&A claim is supported by the evidence at Exhibit 4 of the application.  KW Hydro's explanation of the cost drivers underlying increases in OM&A for the 2014 test year can be found beginning at Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 2.


Mr. Van Ooteghem also discussed a number of the drivers in his evidence-in-chief, as well as the challenges KWHI has experienced in determining a typical year for comparison purposes.


As Mr. Van Ooteghem explained, KW Hydro has experienced significant volatility in its OM&A in recent years, including work on its TS No. 9 that diverted resources from OM&A to capital in 2009 and '10, and then led to overspending on OM&A in 2011, as deferred operating and maintenance work had to be completed.


Mandatory smart meter implementation also deferred more typical OM&A expenditures over a three-year period, and accounting policy changes for 2012 added $1.7 million in previously capitalized OM&A costs in that year.


While 2013 was expected to be a more typical year, Mr. Van Ooteghem testified that planned maintenance work was deferred due to several extreme weather events.


Mr. Van Ooteghem mentioned several specific significant drivers of OM&A costs in the test year in his evidence-in-chief.


First, smart meter-related costs added approximately $1.2 million to OM&A in 2012, and for 2013 and beyond approximately $352,000 per year is now being incorporated into the revenue requirement, plus $165,000 in labour that had previously related to smart meter activity that was not part of the -- was not part of the revenue requirement.


Second, KW Hydro has implemented newer maintenance programs to address reliability and public safety, including animal-proofing of overhead transformers and switches and removal of dead ash trees due to the emerald ash borer.  These two programs alone result in additional costs of $250,000.


KWHI is taking significant steps to improve customer service and communications.  And you heard Mr. Van Ooteghem speak to that today, of the importance of customer communication.  And that was brought home particularly starkly in the past couple of weeks during the ice storm in southern Ontario.  This represents an incremental ongoing expenditure of approximately $550,000, and this includes the implementation of monthly billing, the addition of a communications specialist, the development of a communications strategy, and the improvement of its customer engagement.


KWHI is taking steps in the area of information technology to improve its efficiency and better serve its customers.  These steps include the implementation and operation of an outage management system, data recovery services, server and system upgrades to support increased smart meter traffic, and the replacement of the utility's aging CIS system.  And I believe that Mr. Van Ooteghem's comment earlier today was that that system is at least 35 years old at this point.


KWHI has also been faced with increases in OM&A expenses that are out of its control, including increases in insurance premiums, employment benefits, and negotiated wage increases.


KWHI has also incurred incremental costs related to the application.


KWHI is planning on adding only two more employees to its staff complement in the test year.  Very few have been added in the period since 2010, since KWHI's last rebasing.  KWHI submits that this is entirely reasonable over a period in which the obligations on distributors have increased significantly.


As Mr. Van Ooteghem discussed, the communications specialist will aid in the delivery of the corporate communication strategy for KWHI, and establish its presence in social media.


Contact between a utility and its customers is extremely important, both on an ongoing basis and during extreme weather events, as we recently saw during last month's storm.


The IT projects manager will manage the new projects discussed by Mr. Van Ooteghem, including the outage management system and the replacement of the CIS system.  These are critical to the maintenance of system reliability and service to KWHI's customers.


KWHI respectfully submits that its proposed -- I'm sorry, sir, I should also note the human resources staff person or specialist already hired by KWHI in 2012 will provide necessary administrative assistance to the utility.  And as you heard the witness panel discuss, until 2012 when a dedicated HR specialist was hired, the HR function was spread throughout the utility and was not being very efficiently managed.  So KWHI submits that that position as well is of significant importance to the utility.


KWHI respectfully submits that its proposed 2014 test year OM&A expenditures, including staffing and compensation levels, are reasonable, appropriate and necessary to allow KWHI to maintain the reliability and quality of electricity service to its customers and to improve those services in certain critical areas.  As the Board will be aware, even with the increases in OM&A spending in the 2014 test year, bill impacts to KWHI's customers will be minimal.


Those are my comments.  Thank you for your attention today, sir, and Mr. Elsayed as well.  We will certainly be responding to all Staff and intervenor comments in our reply submission.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Sidlofsky.


And just before we get to the schedule of the further submissions, I would like to thank the witnesses for your forthright participation today.  Very much appreciated.  Thank you very much.


Ms. Helt, I think there was a conversation around the timing and the schedule for the reply and then final submissions.


MS. HELT:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chair.  I have had an opportunity to discuss it during the break with the other counsel, and I believe what is acceptable to the applicant, the intervenors, and staff is to have the intervenor and staff submissions filed by January the 23rd, which is essentially two weeks from today's date, and then to provide the applicant with two weeks to reply, and that would be February the 6th.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  That's satisfactory, Ms. Helt.  Thank you very much.


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And again, once the Panel has had an opportunity to review the undertaking with respect to the proposed settlement, we will be issuing something in writing with our decision on that.  Okay?  And with that, thank you very much.  We're adjourned.


--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 3:55 p.m.
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